Abundance and Distribution of Microplastics in Lake Scugog Catchment, Ontario

A Thesis Submitted to the Committee on Graduate

Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science in the Faculty of Arts and

Science

TRENT UNIVERSITY

Peterborough, Ontario, Canada

© Copyright by Katrina Karl 2022

Environmental and Life Sciences M. Sc. Graduate Program

January 2023

Abstract

Abundance and Distribution of Microplastics in Lake Scugog Catchment, Ontario

Katrina Karl

Plastic pollution is a growing concern, owing to its durability, ubiquity, and potential health impacts. The overall objective of this study was to assess the abundance and distribution of microplastics within Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario. This was fulfilled through two tasks (i) the development of a microplastic particle budget for the lake catchment, and (ii) the determination of the dry deposition of atmospheric microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario. The total input of microplastics into Lake Scugog (atmospheric deposition and stream inflow) was 2491 $\times 10^{6}$ mp/day, while the output (lake outflow and sedimentation) was 1761 $\times 10^{6}$ mp/day, suggesting that 29% of inputs were retained in the lake. The dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry was 1257 mp/m²/day, which was high when compared to bulk deposition (37 mp/m²/day) in the same area. By quantifying the major pathways of microplastics better management techniques can be implemented.

Keywords: Plastic pollution, microplastics, particle budget, catchment, dry deposition, Ontario

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank everyone who assisted with the completion of this project. First, I would like to thank Dr. Julian Aherne who provided me with the opportunity to conduct this research and guided me along the way. I appreciate his expertise and time that he dedicated to this project. Secondly, I would like to thank Kawartha Conservation and in particular Tanner Liang who greatly assisted with routine collection of field samples used for this project and who gave his expertise in answering all questions regarding Lake Scugog Watershed. I would also like to thank Dr. Cheryl McKenna-Neuman and Dr. Patrick O-Brien who both assisted with the settling velocity experiments. As well, thank you to Dr. Eric Sager for providing consultation and an outside view on the project. Many thanks to Brittany Welsh, Clinton Hiltz, and Carter Bertrim for collaborating with me in developing methodologies for microplastic extraction and for their help with field and laboratory analysis.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	viii
List of Appendices	x
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Plastics	1
1.2 Microplastics	2
1.3 Effects of Microplastics	3
1.4 Microplastics in the Environment	4
1.5 Catchment Scale Perspective	5
1.6 Study Objectives	7
1.7 References	9
1.8 Appendix	15
Chapter 2: A microplastic particle budget for Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario	
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Methods	
2.3.1 Study Area	
2.3.2 Study Sites	
2.3.3 Field Sampling	21
2.3.4 Microplastic Extraction	23
2.3.5 Identification of Microplastics	25
2.3.6 Polymer Identification	26
2.3.7 Quality Control and Assurance	26
2.3.8 Data Analysis and Data Sources	27
2.4 Results and Discussion	
2.4.1 Concentration of Microplastics	
2.4.2 Microplastic Shape	
2.4.3 Microplastic Composition	
2.4.4 Microplastic Size	41
2.4.5 Microplastic Colour	44

2.4.6 Microplastic Fluxes and Particle Budget	
2.4.7 Preliminary Estimates of Smaller Size Microplastics	47
2.4.8 Limitations	
2.5 Conclusion	50
2.6 References	51
2.7 Appendix	61
Chapter 3: Dry deposition of atmospheric microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario	71
3.1 Abstract	71
3.2 Introduction	71
3.3 Methods	73
3.3.1 Study Area	73
3.3.2 Field Sampling	74
3.3.3 Laboratory Analysis	75
3.3.4 Quality Control and Assurance	76
3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	76
3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	76 79
3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers3.3.6 Data Analysis3.4 Results and Discussion	76 79 81
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers 3.3.6 Data Analysis 3.4 Results and Discussion 3.4.1 Ambient Air Concentrations 	76
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers 3.3.6 Data Analysis 3.4 Results and Discussion	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	
 3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers	

List of Figures

Figure 2.1- Map of Lake Scugog showing the different sampling locations for stream inflows, the
lake outflow, rainwater, bio-monitors and sediment all sampled during May-October 2021 (for
site coordinates see Appendix Table A2.1)
Figure 2.2- Monthly microplastic concentrations in precipitation during June–October 2021
across the Port Perry and Blackstock Creek study sites
Figure 2.3- Microplastic concentrations during May–October 2021 in (left) lake water by month
across six sites, and (right) stream inflows (n=8) and the lake outflow by month. The box
represents the 25 th and 75 th percentile, the horizantal line represents the median and the whiskers
represent 1.5 times the interquartile range
Figure 2.4- Pie charts showing the proportion of different polymers in each sample media type
across all shapes for Lake Scugog sampled during May-October 2021 (see Appendix Table
C2.7)40
Figure 2.5- Histogram showing the distribution of microplastic lengths across all samples
(precipitation, inflow streams, lake water, sediment, lake outflow, etc.) collected from Lake
Scugog during May–October 202142
Figure 2.6- Length of microplastics in each sample type collected from Lake Scugog during May–October 2021
Figure 2.7- Pie charts representing the proportion of different colours found across all samples
for fragments/films (left) and fibers (right) for Lake Scugog sampled during May-October
202144

List of Tables

Table 2.5- Average concentration, drainage area, discharge, daily number, and daily microplastic
flux stream inflows, lake outflow, sediment, precipitation for Lake Scugog based on
microplastics sampled during May–October 202147
Table 2.6- Average concentrations of microplastics >100 μ m and estimated concentrations of
microplastics >20 μ m (up to 5000 μ m) across the different sample types
Table 2.7- Percentages of fibers and fragments found in all samples for both size categories.
Note: there were no films/other found in the 20–100 μ m category49
Table 3.1- Microplastic count, ambient air concentrations (mp/m ³), and coefficient of variation
(CV%) between triplicate sub-samples in high-volume air samples, Port Perry, Ontario
(November 1–5 2021; see Appendix Table A3.3)
Table 3.2- The percentage and count* of fibers and fragments in ambient air concentrations in
Port Perry, Ontario (see Appendix Table A3.4)
Table 3.3- Summary statistics for the length (mm) of the prepared polyester microfibers
(n=1470); the kurtosis is quite high indicating a non-normal distribution (see Figure 3.3).
Summary statistics for the measured settling velocity (m/s) of polyester microfibers (n=55,501)
determined through the laboratory-based experiments are also given
Table 3.4- Dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, during November 1–5, 2021
based on the median laboratory estimated settling velocity (Table 3.3) and observed ambient air
concentrations (Table 3.1)

List of Appendices

Figure A3.1- A sample of the images of slides analyzed to determine the length of the laboratory
manufactured microfibers used for the settling velocity measurements
Figure A3.2- Photograph of the fall column constructed to determine the settling velocity of
polyester microfibers, showing the base and top cover of the fall column (see Figure 3.2)99
Figure A3.3- Back trajectory plot representing the wind direction during the five days ambient
air was sampled in Port Perry, November 1–5 2021. Note: Colours represent individual
trajectories100
Table A1.1- Sample pictures of the most common microplastics including fiber, fragment and
film15
Table A2.1- Location (latitude, longitude) of study sites in the Lake Scugog catchment, including
inflows/outflow (S), lake (L), trawl (T), sediment (Sd), precipitation (R), and bio-monitors (M).
Lake and sediment locations were the same and the trawl was performed at L1. Note: S4 was
only sampled once (May). See Figure 2.1 for mapped location61
Table A2.2- The number of microplastics in blanks for all sample types, these counts include
both field and laboratory blanks
Table A2.3- The variability for all field duplicate samples and triplicate analytical sub-samples
(i.e., sediment). The CV% is presented for all triplicates and the RPD% is presented for all
duplicates
Table A2.4- Individual particle budget for fragments and fibers, providing an estimate of the
amount entering the lake, leaving the lake, and being retained within the lake63

Table A2.5- The statistical analysis tests performed for all sample types along with their p-Table A2.6- Scale factors for all sample types, the scale factors were multiplied by the $>100 \,\mu m$ Table B2.1- Plankton net and grab lake water samples performed in October 2021, comparing the concentration of microplastics in high volume (500 L) and low volume (1 L) samples......65 Table C2.1- Concentration (mp/L) of microplastics at every inflow/outflow site for all months Table C2.2- Concentration (mp/L) of microplastics at every lake site for all months sampled...66 Table C2.3- Concentration (mp/m^3) of microplastics at the trawl site in triplicate, sampled once Table C2.4- Concentration (mp/g) of microplastics at the sediment sites in triplicate analytical Table C2.5- Concentration (mp/L) of microplastics at the precipitation sites for all months Table C2.6- Concentration (mp/g) of microplastics at the bio-monitor sites for all months Table C2.7- All polymer types found across all sample media along with the hit rate, which represents the correlation between the sample spectra and polymer library spectra; water includes inflow, outflow, and lake water. The spectrum for each sample were uploaded to an online library of polymer spectra (OpenSpecy: https://openanalysis.org/openspecy/), which reported the

correlation (hit rate) between the sample and library entries. The higher the hit rate the greater
the likelihood of exact polymer identification
Table C2.8- Average length of microplastics for each sample type70
Table A3.1- The temperature and precipitation in Port Perry during the sample period
(November 1–5, 2021), the data was obtained from Kawartha Conservation weather gauges
(Kawartha Conservation, 2020)97
Table A3.2- The sampling period (start and end times, and exposure times) for ambient air
concentrations and the volume (m ³) of air sampled in Port Perry97
Table A3.3- Count of microplastics under brightfield microscopy, blue-light fluorescence, and
the total particle count* for ambient air sampled in Port Perry, Ontario (November 1-5
2021)100
Table A3.4- The percentage and count* of fibers and fragments in ambient air concentrations in
Port Perry, Ontario, found under brightfield microscopy and blue-light fluorescence101
Table A3.5- The diameter of the polyester fibers ($n = 1470$), determined manually through Image
J open- source software101
Table A3.6- The count, concentration and daily flux over five months (June–October, 2021) for
bulk deposition in Port Perry, Ontario101
Table B3.1- The medians of nine replicates of the glass bead reference material for size
confirmation. The size of the glass beads was measured using a Horiba LA-950V2 particle size
analyzer103

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Plastics

Plastics are generally defined as synthetic organic polymers derived from petroleum sources (Anderson et al., 2016; Derraik, 2002). The first modern plastic material was developed in 1907, with mass production exponentially increasing since the 1940s (Cole et al., 2011). In 2017, 348 million tonnes of plastic were produced, which is predicted to double by the year 2025 (Ainali et al., 2021). Plastics have become popular for many reasons including their strength, durability, light weight, and low cost (Derraik, 2002; Cole et al., 2011). It is these same characteristics (i.e., strength and durability) that cause plastics to be highly resistant to degradation and to be a potential environmental pollutant. In practice, if plastic was properly managed, at the end of it's life-cycle it would be recycled or combusted to generate energy, resulting in no plastic being released into the environment (Barnes et al., 2009). However, due to improper human behaviour, e.g., lack of infrastructure, inefficient disposal, and littering or loss during transport, plastics are released into the environment.

The many societal benefits of plastic (durability, low cost, etc.), which have driven its popularity, are directly related to the increasing concern of environmental plastic pollution (Cole et al., 2011). A large contributing factor to plastic pollution is the increase of single-use throw-away plastic items such as packaging material. Between 1950 and 2015, 448 million metric tons of plastic was produced, 40% of this was designed for single use (Walker et al., 2021). Some plastics are recycled (9%) or incinerated (12%) after they are no longer in use, however the majority of plastics end up in a landfill or the natural environment (79%), such as water bodies where they can persist for centuries (Cole et al., 2011; Barnes et al., 2009, Leberon, 2018; Walker et al., 2021).

Plastic pollution has been widely observed in both marine and terrestrial environments (Barnes et al., 2009) as well as in the atmosphere (Cai et al., 2017; Anderson et al., 2016; Prata et al., 2020). Further, plastic has buoyancy (owing to its low density), which allows it to be dispersed over long distances with the assistance of wind or wave action (Derraik, 2002; Lebreton et al., 2018). One of the reasons plastics are found commonly across the globe is because of this ease of transport. Ultimately, plastics that are in the natural environment for an extended period of time begin to degrade creating microplastics (Derraik, 2002). Microplastic pollution is one of the many anthropogenic contaminants that will persist in the environment for centuries even if plastic waste is stopped immediately (Barnes et al., 2009).

1.2 Microplastics

A microplastic is generally defined as a plastic particle less than 5 mm (< 5000 μ m; Anderson et al., 2016), where primary microplastics are manufactured at a microscopic size for numerous purposes including, personal care products, air-blasting media, medicinal, and pellets used in the initial stage of manufacturing (Cole et al., 2011; Anderson et al., 2016; Ainali et al., 2021; Browne et al., 2007). In contrast, a microplastic that is formed due to the fragmentation of larger plastic particles is defined as a secondary microplastic; fragmentation can be a consequence of physical, biological, or chemical degradation, e.g., plastics can break-down from ultraviolet radiation (sunlight), or under wave action and abrasion in the marine environment (Cole et al., 2011; Browne et al., 2007).

Microplastics can be further classified based on their appearance (e.g., shape, colour, and composition). Particle shape categories generally include fibers, fragments, films, beads, and foams, with fibers and fragments being the most common microplastics observed in environmental samples (see Appendix Table A1.1; Lusher et al., 2020). Fibers are classified as

having a longer length than width ($<50-75 \mu$ m; 0.05–0.075 mm) and are generally created by the fragmentation of larger textile materials. In contrast, fragments are generally formed by the degradation of larger particles and have an angular structure. Films are sometimes classified as a subcategory of fragments, the difference being films are generally more flexible than fragments and have two dimensions much greater than the third as films are generally very thin (Lusher et al., 2020). The microplastic polymer composition is directly related to the source. Generally, polyester (or polyethylene terephthalate), polyamide (or nylon), polypropylene, and polystyrene are some of the most common types of plastic found in environmental samples (Welsh et al., 2022; Felismino et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020; Abbasi & Turner, 2021; Allen et al., 2019).

1.3 Effects of Microplastics

In the environment it has been suggested that microplastics can harm organisms both directly and indirectly (Xia et al., 2020). There is limited evidence through lab-based experiments that organisms can be directly affected by ingestion of microplastics, which can lead to intestinal obstruction, and reduced growth and reproductive rates. Indirect effects are associated with the toxic metals and pollutants that bind to microplastics in the environment, potentially causing oxidative stress, inflammation, altered gene expression, and death within organisms (Ma et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020). Fibers are reported to have a greater impact on freshwater organisms than fragments (Au et al., 2015), which may be due to fibers having a longer duration in the intestinal tract (Ma et al., 2019). Humans are high trophic organisms in the food web, and it has been suggested that microplastics in the environment bio magnify and are present in the food we eat (Xia et al., 2020). Microplastics are also harmful to humans as they can be inhaled and end up in human lungs, generally it is micrometer and nanometer size particles that affect humans (Brander et al., 2020).

1.4 Microplastics in the Environment

Microplastics can travel within and between ecosystems through numerous pathways including via biosolid land amendments, atmospheric transport via wind or coalescence into raindrops, as well as through both the marine and freshwater systems. At wastewater treatment plants, the majority of microplastics leave via biosolids that could then be applied on agricultural fields as a nutrient amendment or end up in the landfill (Anderson et al., 2016; Carr et al., 2016; Crossman et al., 2020). Once in the terrestrial environment, microplastics can persist in the soil or enter aquatic environments through runoff during high rainfall events or erosion via wind (Anderson et al., 2016). Microplastic concentrations can be influenced by a number of factors including, industrialization levels, population density and weather conditions (Brander et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2020).

Microplastics can also become entrained in the atmosphere from multiple sources, e.g., construction sites, landfills, biosolid amended fields, tire wear, or laundry dryer vents. Although, in general the most common microplastic polymer found in the atmosphere are polyester fibers as they easily detach from textiles (Liu et al., 2019; Welsh et al., 2022). The atmospheric settling (dry deposition) of microplastics can be influenced by weather conditions, time of day, as well as wind speed and direction (Chen et al., 2020; Brander et al., 2020). Further, microplastics can adhere to raindrops and then be deposited onto aquatic and terrestrial environments as wet deposition (Chen et al., 2020). Airborne microplastics can potentially travel great distances by being suspended in the air before settling out as dry deposition or being washed out by rainfall onto land (Dris et al., 2015; Brander et al., 2020). Therefore, the atmosphere has been identified as a pathway for microplastics to remote areas (Brander et al., 2020; Roblin et al., 2020); microplastics have been found in the Pyrenees to the Swiss Alps, and in the Arctic (Allen et al., 2019; Bergmann et al., 2019), all remote from microplastics pollution sources.

A number of studies have evaluated the abundance and type of microplastics in wet (or bulk) deposition (Szewc et al., 2021; Klein & Fischer, 2019), but few if any have evaluated dry deposition. To completely understand the dry deposition and fate of atmospheric microplastics, the settling rate needs to be determined. The settling velocity of microplastics has been estimated through models (Wright et al., 2020; Allen et al., 2019), alternatively laboratory-based experiments can be used to directly measure settling velocity following exemplary studies on non-plastic particles (Richards-Thomas & McKenna-Neuman, 2020).

1.5 Catchment Scale Perspective

A lake catchment is the area of land surrounding a lake where water drains from and enters the water system through runoff or streams. The hydrological catchment is a well-defined landscape unit that can provide an integrating scale at which plastic pollution can be investigated and managed (Windsor et al., 2019). At the hydrological catchment scale, microplastics that are deposited on terrestrial ecosystems from the atmosphere, introduced through biosolid amendment, or through poor waste management, will ultimately be transported to surface waters (rivers and lakes) via drains, or runoff. Once microplastics reach the aquatic environment, they can stay within the water column, sink to sediments, get ingested by animals, adhere to plants, get resuspended into the atmosphere, or be washed ashore (Ma et al., 2019; Sarijan et al., 2021). Freshwater ecosystems are considered to be conduits of microplastics (Enamul Kabir et al., 2021) as they receive inputs from the terrestrial and atmospheric environment and contribute microplastics to the marine environment (Horton & Dixon, 2018; Hoellein & Rochman, 2021; Xia et al., 2020). Nonetheless, freshwater ecosystems can act as a transporter, receiver, and sink for microplastic pollution, underpinning the importance of the 'plastic cycle' in the fate of microplastics (Hoellein and Rochman, 2021). Once present in a lake, storm activity and turbulence can cause redistribution of microplastics throughout the water column. Although,

sediments have been identified as the ultimate sinks for microplastics in the aquatic environment (Corcoran et al., 2015). Surprisingly, few studies have assessed microplastics in freshwater ecosystems, further many of these studies have only focused on microplastics within rivers; however, lakes can potentially be long-term sinks for microplastics (Horton & Dixon, 2018; Hoellein & Rochman, 2021; Felismino et al., 2021; Anderson et al., 2017).

The transport of microplastics to and from lakes at the hydrological catchment scale integrates terrestrial and atmospheric pathways (Windsor et al., 2019). The terrestrial landscape (urban, rural, agricultural, natural, etc.), the atmosphere, and the different compartments of freshwater ecosystems (rivers, streams, wetlands, ponds, and dams) can affect the flux of microplastics to a lake (Banks, 2022). It is important to estimate these fluxes and pools across catchments as this information can be used to model global budgets (Banks, 2022). Although investigating the hydrological budget of lakes is not uncommon, limited studies have focused on a microplastic particle budget or the 'plastic cycle', i.e., the input and output of microplastics, within a freshwater lake at the catchment scale (Hoellein & Rochman, 2021; Horton & Dixon, 2018). In Ontario, the abundance, sources, and sinks of microplastics in the Great Lakes has been studied extensively (Ballent et al., 2016; Grbić et al., 2020; Eriksen et al., 2013; Corcoran et al., 2015; Dean et al., 2018). In contrast, there are few studies on small inland lakes; one study performed in Lake Simcoe, Ontario, examined microplastics in surface waters and sediments, however atmospheric and stream inputs were not included (Felismino et al., 2021). Further, comparison between studies is hampered by differences in methods, and the size fraction of microplastics that are identified.

1.6 Study Objectives

The overall objective of this thesis was to assess the abundance and distribution of microplastics within Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario. This thesis is comprised of two research (manuscript style) chapters. The first manuscript titled "A microplastic particle budget for Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario" assessed the abundance of microplastics in key watershed components (streams, lake, sediment, atmosphere, etc.) of Lake Scugog during the ice-free period in 2021 (May–October) and quantified atmospheric and riverine pathways of microplastics into and out of the lake. It contributes to the limited knowledge on the fate of microplastics at the lake catchment scale. The inputs that were assessed included stream inflows and precipitation, while the outputs included sediment and lake outflow. Surface water samples were collected from the same six locations within the lake. Atmospheric deposition samples were collected with two bulk deposition collectors located on opposite sides of the lake and at nine air biomonitoring sites surrounding the lake. Surface water trawls were also collected at one site, close to the outflow.

The second manuscript titled "Dry deposition of atmospheric microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario" combined measurements of the settling velocity of polyester microfibers with observations of ambient atmospheric microplastics to determine the dry deposition of microplastics. The settling velocity was measured using a drop column and Laser Doppler Anemometer. Ambient atmospheric microplastics were collected daily (every 24 hours) using an active high-volume air sampler in Port Perry, Ontario, during November 2021. Port Perry is located directly beside Lake Scugog, therefore the dry deposition of microplastics found in Port Perry can be compared with atmospheric deposition determined in the microplastic particle budget for Lake Scugog.

The following research chapters were written in manuscript style, therefore some of the text is repeated across chapters, including introductory text, study area description, microplastic identification, extraction methods, spectroscopic analysis, and quality control procedures. This was done in order to facilitate stand alone manuscripts.

1.7 References

Ainali, N.M., Kalaronis, D., Kontogiannis, A., Evgenidou, E., Kyzas, G.Z., Yang, X., Bikiaris,
D.N. & Lanbropoulou, D.A. 2021. Microplastics in the environment: Sampling,
pretreatment, analysis and occurrence based on current and newly-exploited
chromatographic approaches. *Science of the Total Environment*. 794.

Allen, S., Allen, D., Phoenix, V.R., Le Roux, G., Durantez Jimenez, P., Simmonneau, A., Binet,
S. & Galop, D. 2019. Atmospheric transport and deposition of microplastics in a remote mountain catchment. *Nature Geoscience*. 12, 339-344.

- Anderson, J.C., Park, B.J. & Palace, V.P. 2016. Microplastics in aquatic environments: Implications for Canadian ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution*. 218, 269-280.
- Au, S.Y., Bruce, T.F., Bridges, W.C. & Klaine, S.J. 2015. Responses of *Hyalella azteca* to acute and chronic microplastic exposures. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 34 (11), 2564-2572.
- Ballent, A., Corcoran, P.L., Madden, O., Helm, P.A. & Longstaffe, F.J. 2016. Sources and sinks of microplastics in Canadian Lake Ontario nearshore, tributary and beach sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 110 (1), 383-395.
- Banks, M.S. 2022. Microplastic in the Environment: Pattern and Process. (M.S. Banks, Ed.) Environmental Contamination Remediation and Management.
- Barnes, D.K.A., Galgani, F., Thompson, R.C. & Barlaz, M. 2009. Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society.* 364, 1985-1998.

- Brander, S.M., Venick, B.C., Foley, M.M., Steele, C., Woo, M., Lusher, A., Carr, S., Helm, P., Box, C., Cherniak, S., Andrews, R.C. & Rochman, C.M. 2020. Sampling and quality assurance and quality control: a guide for scientists investigating the occurrence of microplastics across matrices. *Applied Spectroscopy*. 74 (9), 1099 – 1125.
- Browne, M.A., Galloway, T. & Thompson, R. 2007. Microplastic- an emerging contaminant of potential concern? *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*. 3 (4), 559-566.
- Cai, L., Wang, J., Peng, J., Tan, Z., Zhan, Z., Tan, X. & Chen, Q. 2017. Characteristic of microplastics in the atmosphere fallout from Dongguan city, China: preliminary research and first evidence. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 24, 24928-24935.
- Carr, S. A., Liu, J. & Tesoro, A.G. 2016. Transport and fate of microplastic particles in wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*. 91, 174-182.
- Chen, G., Fu, Z., Yang, H. & Wang, J. 2020. An overview of analytical methods for detecting microplastics in the atmosphere. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*. 130 (115981).
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C. & Galloway, T.S. 2011. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: a review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 62, 2588-2597.
- Corcoran, P.L., Norris, T., Ceccanese, T., Walsak, M.J., Helm, P.A. & Marvin, C.H. 2015. Hidden plastics of Lake Ontario, Canada and their potential preservation in the sediment record. *Environmental Pollution*. 204, 17-25.

- Crossman, J., Hurley, R.R., Futter, M. & Nizzetto, L. 2020. Transfer and transport of microplastics from biosolids to agricultural soils and the wider environment. *Science of the Total Environment*. 724 (138334).
- Dean, B.Y., Corcoran, P.L. & Helm, P.A. 2018. Factors influencing microplastic abundances in nearshore, tributary and beach sediments along the Ontario shoreline of Lake Erie. *Journal of Great Lakes Research.* 44 (5), 1002-1009.
- Derraik, J.G.B. 2002. The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 44, 842-852.
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Rocher, V., Saad, M., Renault, N. & Tassin, B. 2018. Microplastic contamination in an urban area: a case study in Greater Paris. *Environmental Chemistry*.
- Enamul Kabir, A.H.M., Sekine, M., Imai, T., Yamamoto, K., Kanno, A. & Higuchi, T. 2021. Assessing small-scale freshwater microplastics pollution, land-use, source-to-sink conduits, and pollution risks: Perspectives from Japanese rivers polluted with microplastics. *Science of the Total Environment*. 768 (144655).
- Eriksen, M., Mason, S., Wilson, S., Box, C., Zellers, A. Edwards, W., Farley, H. & Amato, S.
 2013. Microplastic pollution in the surface waters of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 77 (1-2), 177-182
- Grbić, J., Helm, P., Athey, S. & Rochman, C.M. 2020. Microplastics entering northwestern Lake Ontario are diverse and linked to urban sources. *Water Research*. 174 (115623).
- Hoellein, T.J. & Rochman, C.M. 2021. The "plastic cycle" : a watershed-scale model of plastic pools and fluxes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. 19 (3), 176-183.

- Horton, A.A. & Dixon, S.J. 2018. Microplastics: an introduction to environmental transport processes. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Review: Water*. 5 (2).
- Klein, M. & Fischer, E.K. 2019. Microplastic abundance in atmospheric deposition within the Metropolitan area of Hamburg, Germany. *Science of the Total Environment*. 685, 96-103.
- Lebreton, L., Slat, B., Ferrari, F., Sainte-Rose, B., Aitken, J., Marthouse, R., Hajbane, S., Cunsolo, S., Schwarz, A., Leviver, A., Noble, K., Debeljak, P., Maral, H., Schoeneich-Argent, R., Brambini, R. & Reisser, J. 2018. Evidence that the Great Pacific garbage patch is rapidly accumulating plastic. *Scientific Reports*. 8 (4666).
- Liu, K., Wang, X., Fang, T., Xu. P., Zhu, L. & Li, D. 2019. Source and potential risk assessment of suspended atmospheric microplastics in Shanghai. *Science of the Total Environment*. 675, 462-471.
- Lusher, A.L., Brate, I.L.N., Munno, K., Hurley, R.R. & Welden, N.A. 2020. Is it or isn't it: the importance of visual classification in microplastic characterization. *Applied Spectroscopy*. 74 (9), 1139-1153.
- Ma, P., Wang, M.W., Chen, Y.C. & Xia, J. 2019. Research on ecotoxicology of microplastics on freshwater aquatic organisms. *Environmental Pollutants and Bioavailability*. 31 (1), 131-137.
- Prata, J.C., Castro, J.L., Costa, J.P., Duarte, A.C., Cerqueira, M. & Rochas-Santos, T. 2020. An easy method for processing and identification of natural and synthetic microfibres and microplastics in indoor and outdoor air. *MethodsX*. 100762.

- Richards-Thomas, T. & McKenna-Neuman, C. 2020. Laboratory investigation of particle-scale factors affecting the settling velocity of volcaniclastic dust. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* 125.
- Roblin, B., Ryan, M., Vreugdenhil, A. & Aherne, J. 2020. Ambient atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic microfibers and microplastics on the western periphery of Europe (Ireland). *Environmental Science and Technology*. 54, 11100-11108.
- Szewc, K., Graca, B. & Dolega, A. 2021. Atmospheric deposition of microplastics in the coastal zone: Characteristics and relationship with meteorological factors. *Science of the Total Environment*. 761 (143272).
- Walker, T.R., McGuinty, E., Charlebois, S. & Music, J. 2021. Single-use plastic packaging in the Canadian food industry: consumer behavior and perceptions. *Humanities & Social Sciences Communications*.
- Watkins, L., McGrattan, S., Sullivan, P.J. & Walter, M.T. 2019. The effects of dams on river transport of microplastic pollution. *Science of the Total Environment*. 664, 834-840.
- Windsor, F.M., Tilley, R.M., Tyler, C.R. & Ormerod, S.J. 2019. Microplastic ingestion by riverine macroinvertebrates. *Science of the Total Environment*. 646, 68-74.
- Welsh, B., Aherne, J., Paterson, A.M., Yao, H. & McConnell, C. 2022. Atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic particles and microplastics in south-central Ontario, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment.* 835 (155426).

- Wright, S.L., Ulke, J., Font, A., Chan, K.L.A. & Kelly, F.J. 2020. Atmospheric microplastic deposition in an urban environment and an evaluation of transport. *Environmental International*. 136 (105411).
- Sarijan, S., Azman, S., Said, M.I.M. & Jamal, M.H. 2021. Microplastics in freshwater ecosystems: a recent review of occurrence, analysis, potential impacts, and research needs. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 28, 1341-1356.
- Xia, W., Rao, Q., Deng, X., Chen, J. & Xie, P. 2020. Rainfall is a significant environmental factor of microplastic pollution in inland waters. *Science of the Total Environment*. 732 (139065).

1.8 Appendix Appendix A- Microplastic Type

Table A1.1- Sample pictures of the most common microplastics including fiber, fragment, and film.

Sample Picture	Microplastic Type
R	Fiber
	Fragment
	Film

Chapter 2: A microplastic particle budget for Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario

2.1 Abstract

Globally, microplastic pollution has increased exponentially during the past few decades, which is a concern due to their persistence in the environment. Nonetheless, the knowledge of different sources and pathways of microplastics is limited especially in freshwater ecosystems. In this study, a microplastic particle (input–output) budget was determined for Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario. The inputs assessed included the major stream inflows and atmospheric deposition, while the outputs included sedimentation and the lake outflow. In total 1,181 microplastics (size range: 0.10–5.0 mm) were identified across all sample types. The greatest daily microplastic input flux was precipitation (19.51 mp/m²/day) and the greatest output flux was lake outflow (3.05 mp/m²/day). The total input of microplastics to the lake was 2491 x10⁶ mp/day, while the output was 1761 x10⁶ mp/day, resulting in 29% being retained in the lake. By quantifying the major pathways of microplastics better management techniques for plastic waste can be implemented.

2.2 Introduction

There is growing concern regarding microplastic pollution (particles < 5 mm; 5000 μ m) due to its durability, ubiquity within the environment, and potential health impacts (Cole et al., 2011; Anderson et al., 2016). Microplastics have been widely observed in aquatic, terrestrial, and atmospheric environments (Brander et al., 2020; Xia et al., 2020), where it has been suggested that they can harm organisms both directly and indirectly (Ma et al., 2019). Nonetheless, few studies have focused on freshwater ecosystems (Horton & Dixon, 2018; Hoellein & Rochman, 2021).

Knowledge regarding the importance of different sources and pathways of microplastics in freshwater ecosystems is especially limited (Schell et al., 2021). In general, studies that have focused on freshwaters, have typically focused on rivers downstream of anthropogenic point sources (Kay et al., 2018; Sol et al., 2020); pond and lake ecosystems are generally overlooked (Horton & Dixon, 2018; Hoellein & Rochman, 2021). Microplastics can enter lakes via several pathways including surface water run-off, wastewater treatment plants, stream inflows, as well as through atmospheric deposition (Anderson et al., 2016; Carr et al., 2016; Brander et al., 2020; Grbic et al., 2020). Within lakes, microplastics can stay suspended within the water column, sink to the sediments, exit the lake through outflows, be ingested by animals or adhere to plants (Ma et al., 2019; Sarijan et al., 2021). Nonetheless, sediments have been identified as the ultimate sink for microplastics in aquatic environments (Corcoran et al., 2015).

To fully understand the fate of microplastics in freshwaters, the entire catchment must be examined as it integrates all inputs and outputs (the microplastic cycle) at the landscape scale. The microplastic cycle has been defined as a "novel concept and paradigm for understanding plastic pollution and its fluxes across ecosystem reservoirs" (Banks, 2022). Freshwater ecosystems are complex as they have many different compartments including rivers, streams, wetlands, ponds, and lakes (Banks, 2022). Further, freshwater ecosystems are affected by their surrounding landscape and can act as a transporter, receiver, and sink for microplastic pollution. Currently, there are no studies that have determined the microplastic budget (inputs and outputs) for a freshwater lake at the catchment scale.

In Canada only a handful of studies have examined microplastics in freshwater ecosystems (Li et al., 2020; Felismino et al., 2021), even fewer have focused on lakes (Anderson et al., 2017). Within Ontario, studies have primarily focused on microplastics in the Great Lakes

(Yang et al., 2022; Ballent et al., 2016; Grbić et al., 2020; Eriksen et al., 2013; Corcoran et al., 2015; Dean et al., 2018). The few studies that examined smaller lakes have focused only on surface waters and sediments (Felismino et al., 2021; Anderson et al., 2017), but excluded atmospheric and stream inputs. Further, comparison between studies is hampered by differences in methods, and especially the size fraction of microplastics that are identified. To gain a better understanding of the fate of microplastics they need to be quantified at smaller size fractions.

The overall objectives of this study were to determine the abundance of microplastics in Lake Scugog catchment, and to develop a microplastic particle (input–output) budget for the lake catchment. In addition, preliminary estimates of smaller particles typically not included in visual analysis was performed using Nile red dye and blue-light fluorescence to detect microplastics $>20 \ \mu m (>0.02 \ mm)$. The inputs that were assessed included stream inflows and atmospheric deposition, while the outputs included sedimentation and the lake outflow. Surface water samples were collected from six locations within the lake, eight inflow streams, and the lake outflow. Sediment samples were collected from the same six locations within the lake. Atmospheric deposition samples were collected with two bulk deposition collectors placed on opposite sides of the lake, and nine atmospheric bio-monitors surrounding the lake were used to assess variability between atmospheric inputs across the entire lake. Surface water trawls were also collected in triplicate at one site closest to the outflow; all sampling was performed between May–October 2021.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study Area

Lake Scugog catchment is located within south-central Ontario, Canada. The catchment is 529 km^2 with the lake being 68 km^2 (Kawartha Conservation, 2010, 2020); the lake is quite shallow with an average depth of 1.4 m, and 7.6 m at the deepest point (Kawartha Conservation,

2010). The lake's catchment is mainly positioned within the Township of Scugog (Durham Region) and the City of Kawartha Lakes, with Port Perry (population, 9,553 as of 2021) being the largest town (Statistics Canada, 2017). Lake Scugog is a macrophyte dominated ecosystem (Harrow-Lyle & Kirkwood, 2020) and a headwater lake that receives most of its water from headwater streams on the Oak Ridges Moraine. Since it is a headwater lake, it drains northwards to Sturgeon Lake, which leads through the Trent Severn Waterway and onwards to Lake Ontario. Water from the Scugog River is the primary source of drinking water for residents in Lindsay (Kawartha Conservation, 2010). The Lake Scugog watershed is not densely populated; most residents live in small hamlets in the rural portion of the watershed. The catchment is dominated by agricultural/rural landcover (52%), with the rest made up of swamp (14%), open water (12%), treed area (11%) and other (11%) (MNRF, 2020). Long-term annual precipitation to the catchment is 882 mm, mean annual temperature is 6.8°C, and the mean elevation is 275.5 m (MNRF, 2020).

2.3.2 Study Sites

This study focused on the lake catchment and quantified microplastic abundance in the dominant inputs (lake inflows and precipitation) and outputs (lake outflow and sediment) of the lake. In addition, lake water, surface trawls, and atmospheric active bio-monitors (moss bags) were analyzed (Figure 2.1). Water samples were collected monthly from nine stream inflows¹ and the lake outflow (S1–S10), these sites corresponded with Kawartha Conservation's Lake Scugog Environmental Management Plan (LSEMP), which were routinely sampled during the ice-free period (May–October 2021). Five of the inflows and outflow sampled were classified as rural, three as agricultural, and two as urban. Further, six locations within the lake (L1–L6) were

¹ Note: S4 was only sampled once in May 2021.

sampled routinely (May–October 2021), again consistent with Kawartha Conservation's LSEMP monitoring sites. In October 2021, three parallel surface trawls (T1) were performed at the lake site (L1) closest to the outflow of Lake Scugog. In addition, lake sediment (Sd1–Sd6) was collected in October 2021, below the six lake water sites (L1–L6). Precipitation samples were collected monthly at two sites in the Lake Scugog catchment using bulk deposition collectors, which captured wet and a portion of dry deposition; they were placed in downtown Port Perry (R1; collocated with Kawartha Conservation's climate station and Water Survey of Canada [WSC] station) and at Blackstock Creek (R2; collocated with a WSC station). Additionally, nine atmospheric bio-monitors (M1–M9) were placed around Lake Scugog.



Figure 2.1- Map of Lake Scugog showing the different sampling locations for stream inflows, the lake outflow, rainwater, bio-monitors, and sediment all sampled during May–October 2021 (for site coordinates see Appendix Table A2.1).

2.3.3 Field Sampling

Inflow streams, the lake outflow, and lake water samples were collected monthly by Kawartha Conservation. One-liter samples were taken at each site into a sterilized wide-mouth glass (Mason) jar, which was triple rinsed with the sample water at each site, and filled at a depth of 10 cm. One rotating field blank and duplicate sample were collected monthly for both lake inflows/outflow (n=6) and lake sites (n=6). Duplicates were performed to assess the variability in the sampling procedures and were collected in the same manner as the environmental samples. Blanks were performed to correct for contamination, this was done by pouring one-liter of filtered (to remove any possible microplastics) B-pure water into a one-liter jar during field sampling. All containers used for sample collection were sterilized prior to use.

Three parallel 1 km (approximately 35 m³ of water) trawls (T1) perpendicular to the lake outflow were performed using a 0.05 mm (50 μ m) plankton net, which was trawled beside a boat at approximately 3.7 km/hr in triplicate (back and forth); two trawls were performed north–south and one was south–north. The opening of the net was a circle (diameter of 30 cm), half of which was placed in the water. Once the trawl was complete the cod end was brought onto the boat, and emptied and rinsed into a glass jar. A field blank was performed after the sampling was complete; the net and cod end were rinsed into a stainless-steel bowl with one-liter of filtered Bpure water, which was then transferred to a glass jar.

Sediment was collected at six sites (Sd1–Sd6; Figure 2.1) using an Eckman Grab sampler that collected the top 5 cm. At each site, two samples were taken, one from the starboard side and one from the port side of the boat. The samples were mixed in a stainless-steel bowl, and a 250 mL subsample was kept in a glass jar for analysis. A field blank was performed on the

Eckman Grab sampler by rinsing one-liter of filtered B-pure water over it into a bowl, which was transferred to a glass jar.

Two atmospheric bulk deposition collectors were placed around the lake; in Port Perry, a NILU (PN. 9735) microplastic bulk deposition collector (diameter of 20 cm) was placed on a pole, approximately 2 m above the ground. The Blackstock Creek bulk deposition collector was an aluminum bucket (diameter of 23 cm) installed on the roof of a stream gauge station (WSC ID: 02HG003), approximately 3 m above the ground, both collectors had a basket (stainless steel) on top of the bucket to deter birds. Rainwater was collected at the end of each month (approximately every 31 days) and stored in one-liter glass jars; the collector was then triple-rinsed with filtered B-pure water, which was also stored for microplastic analysis.

Atmospheric bio-monitors were used to assess variability in atmospheric deposition around the lake. These bio-monitors (small metal mesh bags with 1 g of the moss *Pleurozium schreberi* enclosed, "moss bags") were placed on hydro poles (approximately 3 m from the ground) in duplicate at nine locations (close to the six lake sites; Figure 2.1) surrounding the lake perimeter (~500–2000 m from the lake) and were deployed for two-month intervals, June 1st– August 1st and August 1st–October 1st. *Pleurozium schreberi* was picked in May 2021 from Warsaw Caves Conservation Area (44.461904, –78.131332) following ICP vegetation guidelines (ICP Vegetation, 2015) and stored in paper bags; this location was used as it is remote from direct pollution sources. The moss was cleaned of debris, oven-dried at 45–55°C for 24 hours, weighed into 1 g samples and placed into mesh bags, which were stored in aluminum foil until deployment. The moss bags (5 cm²) were created from 1 mm aluminium mesh and sewn together with 20-gauge wire; the bags were secured with wire onto 'L' brackets attached to the hydro

poles. Field blanks (n=5) were performed by attaching a moss bag to the 'L' bracket on the hydro pole and immediately removing. The moss bags were corrected using unexposed moss.

2.3.4 Microplastic Extraction

In the laboratory, samples were stored at room temperature for up to one month prior to analysis. The lake inflows/outflow and lake water samples were directly vacuum filtered using a Buchner funnel onto 4.2 cm diameter glass fiber filter papers (FisherbrandTM G6 [09-804-42A] pore size 1.6 μ m) using approximately 3 per sample² and stored in petri dishes.

The trawl samples were passed through a 200 μ m (0.2 mm) sieve, the <200 μ m portion was vacuum filtered onto glass fiber filter papers (approximately 14 filter papers per sample). The >200 μ m sample was digested using a wet peroxide oxidation, which followed previously published work (Herrera et al., 2018; Masura et al., 2015; Roblin & Aherne, 2020a). The >200 μ m contents from each trawl sample were emptied into a 500 mL or 1000 mL glass beaker, 40 mL of 30% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) was added, and it was incubated at 45–55°C for 18–24 hours. Once removed from the heat, 40 mL 0.05M Fe (II) was added and it was left at room temperature for five minutes. The heat of the reaction was monitored and if it exceeded 55°C filtered B-pure water was added. As the reaction slowed down, additional H₂O₂ aliquots were added in 20 mL increments, for a total of at least 100 mL of H₂O₂. Once the digestion was complete the digestate was vacuum filtered onto glass fiber filter papers (approximately 2 filter papers per sample).

The sediment samples were oven dried at 45-55 °C for approximately seven days. Once dry, a 5 g sub-sample was analyzed in triplicate (3 × 5 g) from each site using the wet peroxide

² When there was a large amount of residual material in the samples, multiple filter papers were used to facilitate easier identification.

oxidation method. The digestate was then passed through a 90 μ m (0.09 mm) sieve, the <90 μ m material was vacuum filtered (approximately 2 filter papers per sample), the material left on the sieve (most of the sediment was $>90 \,\mu\text{m}$) was sequentially density separated three times (once with water and twice with sodium iodide [NaI] solutions). Water and NaI were used as they both have a density higher than the average plastic, resulting in plastic floating on the surface (Nuelle et al., 2014). The density separator was created from a pipe with a ball valve in the middle following Coppock et al. (2017). The sample and solution (water or NaI; approximately 500 mL) was put in the density separator, placed on a stir plate for 5 min and removed, once the sample had settled (2–8 hrs dependent on solution type) the ball valve was rotated, and the bottom and top portions were separated. The initial density separation used water to clean the sample of H₂O₂ and Fe (II); approximately 500 mL of water was added and left to settle for 2–3 hours. The top portion of the density separator was vacuum filtered onto glass fiber filter papers (approximately 2 filter papers per sample) and the bottom portion was sieved (90 μ m) to remove the water, which was discarded. The sieved portion was again density separated and left to sit for 6–8 hours using NaI (500 mL, density of 1.8 g/cm³; Nuelle et al., 2014). The top portion once again was vacuum filtered, and the bottom portion was put through a final NaI density separation; after this the remaining sample was discarded.

The rainwater samples contained organic debris, therefore a 30% H₂O₂ solution was added to each jar (10% by volume) and left to incubate for one week at room temperature to breakdown the organic material. The samples were then vacuum filtered onto glass fiber filter papers (approximately 7 filter papers per sample).

When removed from the field, atmospheric bio-monitors were wrapped in aluminum foil, oven-dried at 45–55°C for 24 hrs and weighed. The contents of each bag were emptied into
separate 500 mL glass beakers and incubated at $45-55^{\circ}$ C for 12-24 hrs in 40 mL of 30% H₂O₂ and digested individually using the wet peroxide oxidation method. Once the digestion was complete the sample was vacuum filtered (approximately 4 filter papers per sample).

2.3.5 Identification of Microplastics

Brightfield microscopy is widely used to detect microplastics, which works well when identifying millimeter size particles; however, it becomes challenging when identifying submillimeter size particles, i.e., reportedly $<50 \ \mu m$ (0.05 mm) but in practice $<100 \ \mu m$ (0.1 mm; Labbe et al., 2020; Erni Cassola et al., 2017). In addition, it is very difficult to identify clear particles with brightfield microscopy. Fluorescent dye can be used to help identify submillimeter and clear particles (Labbe et al., 2020; Erni Cassola et al., 2017). In the current study, brightfield microscopy was performed on all samples, in addition a Nile red dye and blue-light (wavelength 460 nm) procedure was performed on a subset of samples (10%).

Using a stereomicroscope with a digital camera (Amscope with Infinity 2 Teledyne Lumenera camera), all filter papers underwent visual analysis adhering to a widely used identification protocol (Roblin et al., 2020b; Windsor et al., 2019; Norén, 2007) based on five criteria: (i) the particle is unnaturally coloured; (ii) it is homogenous in material and texture with no cell structure or offshoots present; (iii) the particle is not brittle and does not break when poked, tugged or compressed with tweezers; (iv) it is shiny or glossy in appearance; and (v) there is limited fraying with no similarity to natural particles. Suspected plastic particles were photographed and then confirmed using a hot needle test following Roblin et al. (2020b). A hot needle was pressed against the particle, if it melted it was classified as plastic, and the image of the microplastic was then measured using the image processing software, ImageJ. The particles

were measured by converting the number of pixels to a known length in millimeters. The length, width, colour, and type (i.e., fragment, fiber, film, etc.) of each microplastic was recorded.

A subset of samples (minimum of 10% of all samples and blanks, i.e., 10% of inflow/outflow samples, 10% of lake water samples, etc.) were chosen randomly and further analyzed for clear microplastic particles and particles <100 μ m (0.1 mm). This subset was dyed using Nile red dye, which takes advantage of the hydrophobic properties of plastics, allowing them to fluoresce under different wavelengths (460–630 nm). To each selected filter paper, 1 mL of Nile red dye (concentration of 0.1 mg/mL) was added to completely cover the sample (Erni Cassola et al., 2017). The filters were incubated in the dark at 50°C for 30 min to improve the adsorption of Nile red (Erni Cassola et al., 2017). Following incubation, they were visually analyzed by microscopy under a blue light with a wavelength of 460 nm. Any particle that fluoresced was then hot needled, if it melted it was counted as a microplastic. These particles were not photographed as they were too small to measure, rather they were categorized as <100 μ m.

2.3.6 Polymer Identification

Micro-Raman spectroscopy (WITec, operated by WITec Control) was used to determine the type of plastic polymer following Roblin et al. (2020b). Fragments were analyzed using a 532 nm laser and fibers were analyzed using a 785 nm laser at 100× objective and adjustable power (approximate range, 0–85 mW). Spectra were recorded in the wavenumber range of 0– 1,800/cm and analyzed through an open-access library (Open Specy; Cowger et al., 2021) to confirm polymer identity.

2.3.7 Quality Control and Assurance

Field and laboratory blanks were analyzed in the same manner as environmental samples. Open air blanks were performed in the laboratory by placing a clean glass fiber filter paper

(FisherbrandTM G6 1.6 μ m) in a petri dish on the counter for one hour during both the extraction and counting procedures. This was performed twice a month (n =10) and was used to determine potential contamination during laboratory analysis. The duration that samples were exposed through all laboratory procedures (extraction, counting, etc.) was also recorded. Field blanks were used to blank correct the concentration of microplastics across all samples (For blank corrections see Appendix Table A2.2). Duplicates (inflows/outflow, lake water, bio-monitors) were performed to assess sample and environmental accuracy, laboratory triplicates (sediment) assessed the variability within samples and environmental triplicates (trawl) were performed to assess sample and environmental accuracy (see Appendix Table A2.3). All B-pure water and chemical solutions (H₂O₂, Fe (II), Na(I)) were vacuum filtered prior to use to remove any possible microplastics.

In preference, glass and metal material were used throughout field and laboratory work, however some plastic materials needed to be used (petri dishes, B-pure water spray bottle, density separators, etc.). Equipment and sample containers were triple rinsed with filtered B-pure water and glass jars were sterilized at ~100°C for 10–20 minutes. During analysis samples were covered with aluminum foil as much as possible. The Buchner funnel was triple rinsed between samples, the rinse water was poured onto the same filter paper as the sample. The filter was then removed, and the Buchner funnel was triple rinsed again and wiped with a Kimwipe between samples.

2.3.8 Data Analysis and Data Sources

The concentration of microplastics (mp/L) was calculated for all inflows, the lake outflow, lake water, and precipitation by dividing the number of particles (count) observed by the sample volume, i.e., 1 L for all inflow/outflow/lake samples and the volume of rainfall for

each individual deployment period. The concentration of microplastics (mp/m³; mp/m²) for all trawl samples was calculated by dividing the number of particles, observed by the sample volume (half the area of net and distance travelled), or distance travelled. The concentration of microplastics (mp/g) for sediment and bio-monitors was calculated by dividing the number of particles observed by the sample weight. The sediment samples were analyzed in 5 g triplicates, which were averaged to determine the concentration at each site. Similarly, the count per moss bag was divided by the final moss weight. The variation in triplicates was estimated using the coefficient of variation, while the variation in duplicates was estimated using the relative percentage difference. Lastly for each sample type the average of their respective field blanks was subtracted from the concentration; no microplastics were found in the laboratory open air blanks.

The daily flux (mp/m²/day) for inflows/outflow was calculated using the microplastic concentration (mp/L), the liters flowing through each inflow/outflow per day, (L/day; obtained from Lake Scugog Environmental Management Plan; Kawartha Conservation, 2010), and their drainage area (m²; obtained from Lake Scugog Environmental Management Plan [Kawartha Conservation, 2010] and the Ontario Flow Assessment Tool; MNRF, 2020).

River Flux $(mp/m^2/day) = Concentration$ $(mp/L) \times Discharge$ $(L/day) \div Drainage$ Area (m^2)

The daily deposition (mp/m²/day) for precipitation was calculated using the microplastic concentration (mp/L), the precipitation volume (mm; obtained from Kawartha Conservation) measured at each station, and the number of days sampled.

Precipitation Flux $(mp/m^2/day) = Concentration (mp/L) \times Rainfall (mm) \div Number of Days$

The microplastic sedimentation flux (mp/m²/day) was calculated using the microplastic concentration (mp/g) in sediment and the sedimentation rate for the top 5 cm in Lake Scugog (g/cm²/day; obtained from Wiklund & Hall, 2017).

Sediment Flux $(mp/m^2/day) = Concentration (mp/g) \times Sedimentation Rate (g/m^2/day)$

The particle budget was then determined using the daily number of microplastics entering and leaving Lake Scugog, i.e., the flux multiplied by the contributing area. The total microplastic inflow to Lake Scugog was determined by adding all lake inflows and precipitation directly to the lake surface, while the outflow was determined by adding the lake outflow and sedimentation rate of microplastics. The retention of microplastics in Lake Scugog was estimated by calculating the difference between all lake inputs and outputs. The residence time of microplastics was determined by dividing the total number of microplastics in the lake by the annual retention (daily retention \times 365 days).

Residence Time (year) = *Total Microplastics in Lake* (*mp*) ÷ *Annual Retention* (*mp/year*)

The total microplastics in the lake was calculated using the lake water samples and trawl samples. Microplastics on the surface (depth of 15 cm) of the lake was determined by calculating the average concentration of microplastics in each trawl and upscaling this using the area of the lake to the total number of microplastics on the surface of the entire lake. Microplastics in the lake water was determined in a similar fashion using the average concentration of microplastics at each lake site and the lake volume (less the surface volume). The total number of microplastics on the surface and within the lake were added to determine the overall number of microplastics in Lake Scugog. The percent of microplastics retained in the terrestrial catchment was determined by difference of the total microplastics entering the catchment (precipitation flux

multiplied by the area of the terrestrial catchment) and the total leaving the terrestrial catchment, which was calculated by adding the number of microplastics in all the inflows entering the lake. The particle budget was based on all microplastic types combined rather than individual shapes (i.e., fibers and fragments) due to sampling limitations (for further details see Appendix Table 2.4) Statistical analysis was performed on all sample types to determine if there was a statistical difference between sites and months (where applicable) using a one-way Anova as data were normally distributed (see Appendix Table A2.5). All statistical analysis was carried out in PAST 4.10 (PAST, 2020).

Total microplastics (particles $<100 \ \mu m$ plus particles $>100 \ \mu m$) for each sample type (inflows, lake water, sediment, etc.) were estimated using a sample specific scale factor, which upscaled the brightfield microscopy counts to total microplastic counts (see Appendix Table A2.6). The scale factors were determined using the average counts from the samples that underwent both procedures (brightfield and fluorescence microscopy).

2.4 Results and Discussion

2.4.1 Concentration of Microplastics

In total 1,181 microplastics (size range: 100–5000 μ m; 0.1–5 mm) were identified across all sample types. In addition, there were 17 macroplastics identified that exceeded a length of 5 mm (5000 μ m); the majority of these were in precipitation and sediment samples. Overall, 123 samples were taken and only four of these had zero microplastics; the zero detect samples were either in stream inflow, lake outflow or lake samples and may have been influenced by the low sample volume (1 L) as suggested by the high coefficient of variation for lake and stream samples (72.5–115.3%; Table 2.1; see Appendix B2). Notably, there was no statistical difference in microplastic counts or concentration between sites and seasons (where applicable) for all sample types other than sediment. The average concentration of microplastics in the stream inflow samples (n=46) was 2.4 mp/L (median of 2.4 mp/L; range of 0–8.4 mp/L), the lake outflow samples (n=4) was 3.1 mp/L (median of 2.4 mp/L; range 0–7.4 mp/L), and in lake water samples (n=36) was 2.9 mp/L (median of 2.4 mp/L; range of 0–7.4 mp/L; Table 2.1; see Appendix Table C2.1; C2.2). Comparison is difficult between studies due to differences in sampling periods, collection methods, and identification techniques. Welsh et al. (2022), who examined three lakes in the Muskoka-Haliburton region, found slightly lower concentrations in lake water, stream inflows, and lake outflows, 0.95–1.51 mp/L, 0.79–1.14 mp/L, and 0.91–2.0 mp/L, respectively across the three lakes, likely due to the lower population density in their study area compared with this study. The lakes examined in the Muskoka-Haliburton region were all remote (3–50 km) from towns, whereas Lake Scugog is directly beside Port Perry. Further, Felismino et al. (2021) found much lower concentrations in lake water in Lake Simcoe (0.04 mp/L); however, this is likely due to the differences in field sampling as Felismino et al. (2021) used a 125 μ m mesh screen to collect microplastics.

In the current study, the average surface trawl (n=3) concentration was 3.2 mp/m³ or 377,778 mp/km² (range of 1.9–4.3 mp/m³; Table 2.1; see Appendix Table C2.3). In contrast, Felismino et al. (2021) found an average of 32,700 mp/km² in Lake Simcoe and Eriksen et al. (2013) found an average of 43,157 mp/km² in the Laurentian Great Lakes, potentially owing to the larger mesh size in the trawl nets used in these studies (100 μ m [Felismino et al., 2021], 333 μ m [Eriksen et al., 2013]). Another reason for the different concentrations may be due to the mesh screens used to process samples (125 μ m [Felismino et al., 2021], 355 μ m [Eriksen et al., 2013]).

The average concentration of microplastic in sediment (n=6) was 2.2 mp/g (range of 0.8– 3.6 mp/g; Table 2.1; see Appendix Table C2.4). In contrast, Felismino et al. (2021) observed 0.008–1.07 mp/g in Lake Simcoe, Ballent et al. (2016) found 0.98 mp/g in nearshore sediments in Lake Ontario, and Welsh et al. (2022) observed 3.6 mp/g in three lakes in the Muskoka-Haliburton region. The difference in sediment concentrations is likely owing to the different methods used. Felismino et al. (2021) used different extraction methodology; anything <45 μ m was screened out and the sediment samples only underwent one density separation. In the current study it was found that more microplastics were in the second and third density separations (NaI solution) than the first (H₂O solution).

The concentration of microplastics in precipitation (n=10) had an average of 8.1 mp/L (range of 3.4–16.4 mp/L; Table 2.1; see Appendix Table C2.5) across the two sampling sites. In contrast, Welsh et al. (2022) found a lower concentration with a range of 1.47–2.64 mp/L in precipitation samples in the Muskoka-Haliburton region, and Roblin et al. (2020b) found a concentration of 3.5 microfibers/L in Ireland. The higher concentration in the Lake Scugog catchment is most likely due to the population density, both Roblin et al. (2020b) and Welsh et al. (2022) performed their studies in more remote areas away from towns and cities whereas Lake Scugog is next to the town of Port Perry.

Table 2.1- Microplastic counts and concentrations by sample type for particles >100 μ m. The particle count is the total across all sites and months. The average concentration, range, and sample variation, i.e., coefficient of variation (CV%) is calculated across all months (where applicable) and sites.

Sample Type	Number of Samples	Number of Sites	Sampling Frequency	Particle Count	Average Concentration	Median Concentration	Range	CV%
Inflow (mp/L)	46	9	Monthly	107	2.4	2.4	0-8.4	87.2
Outflow (mp/L)	4	1	Monthly	12	3.1	2.4	0-7.4	115.3
Lake (mp/L)	36	6	Monthly	108	2.9	2.4	0-7.4	72.5
Trawl (mp/m ³)	3	3	Once	340	3.2	3.4	1.9-4.3	36.6
Sediment (mp/g)	6	6	Once	197	2.2	1.9	0.8-3.6	49.3
Precipitation (mp/L)	10	2	Monthly	328	8.1	8.0	3.4-16.4	48.5
Bio-monitor (mp/g)	18	9	Bi- Monthly	89	3.0	2.8	0.4-6.5	57.8

In general, there was large spatial variability for the inflow and lake sites compared with sediment with an average of 78.3%, 69.7%, and 49.7% respectively (Table 2.2). The inflow and lake sites may have had high variability due to the low sample volume; however, it was clear that the lake site closest to the outflow (L1) had high concentrations compared with the other sites (Table 2.3; see Figure 2.1), which was anticipated due to the flow of water in the lake. The sediment may be more representative of microplastic concentrations across the lake than the inflow and lake sites as there seemed to be a pattern across all samples; there was a statistical difference between the sediment sites (One-way Anova p< 0.05) as the east basin near the outflow (Sd1–Sd3) had higher concentrations than the west basin (Table 2.3; see Figure 2.1).

The average concentration of microplastics in the bio-monitors placed around the lake was 3.0 mp/g (range 0.4–6.5 mp/g; Table 2.1; see Appendix Table C2.6). The bio-monitors represent the spatial variability for atmospheric inputs across the entire catchment, and the overall coefficient of variation between samplers was 33.2% (Table 2.2). This low coefficient of variation indicates that the atmospheric inputs across the entire catchment were similar, which suggests that two precipitation stations were representative of the entire catchment. The high variation between inflow sites did not show any relationship with population density, as S9 is directly in Port Perry, yet had the lowest concentration (1.3 mp/L; Table 2.3). Klein et al. (2015) similarly reported no correlation between population and concentration in a river in Germany and rather suggested that hydrodynamic effects may superimpose the correlation with population density. There was a large difference in the average concentrations between precipitation sites, as one collector was in downtown Port Perry (R1; 10.1 mp/L), while the other was in a rural setting near Blackstock Creek (R2; 6.1 mp/L; Table 2.3; Figure 2.1). Similarly, Welsh et al. (2022) found that the concentration of microplastics in bulk deposition increased with anthropogenic activity. The average temporal variability across sampling sites for the inflow and lake were high, at 90.1% and 67.8% respectively (Table 2.3). May and June generally had high concentrations compared to the other months while July and August were generally low (Figure 2.2), suggesting seasonal variability.

Table 2.2- Spatial variability (percent variation in the average concentration between sampling sites) represented by coefficient of variation (CV%) for inflow and lake samples across the sixmonth sampling period, sediment sampled in October, and the bio-monitors sampled in June–July and August–September.

	Inflow	Lake	Sediment	Bio-monitors
Average (%)	78.3	69.7	49.7	33.2

Table 2.3- Average concentration and particle count (blank-corrected) of microplastics at all sites with the temporal variability (percent variation in the monthly average concentration between sampling months) represented by coefficient of variation (CV%). For stream inflows and lake outflow (S), lake water (L), and precipitation (R), the average concentration (mp/L) across all the months is presented, for sediment (Sd) the average concentration (mp/g) across the triplicates is presented, and for bio-monitors (M) the average concentration (mp/g) across the two deployment periods is presented and relative percent difference (RPD%) is given for variability. Note: S4 was only sampled for one month.

Sample	Site ID	Count	Concentration	Temporal
-			(mp/L or mp/g)	Variability (%)
Inflows	S 1	18.4	3.1	39.5
	S 2	10.9	1.8	102.1
	S 3	16.8	3.4	57.3
	S 4	2.4	2.4	-
	S 5	11.6	1.9	80.8
	S 6	7.0	1.4	87.5
	S 7	17.4	2.9	89.3
	S 8	15.0	3.0	109.5
	S 9	8.0	1.3	129.6
Outflow	S10	12.2	3.1	115.3
Inflows and outflow	Average	12.0	2.4	90.1
Lake	L1	21.4	3.6	65.0
	L2	15.9	2.7	87.5
	L3	9.9	1.7	37.1
	L4	17.4	2.9	52.3
	L5	18.0	3.0	83.8
	L6	20.4	3.4	81.1
Lake	Average	17.2	2.9	67.8
Precipitation	R1	164.7	10.1	40.8
1	R2	149.8	6.1	45.6
Precipitation	Average	157.3	8.1	43.2
Sediment	Sd1	50.0	3.3	-
	Sd2	54.0	3.6	-
	Sd3	32.0	2.1	-
	Sd4	27.0	1.8	-
	Sd5	12.0	0.8	-
	Sd6	22.0	1.5	-
Sediment	Average	32.8	2.2	-
Bio-monitor	M1	4.2	1.3	47.6
	M2	12.2	3.5	147.5
	M3	12.2	3.5	16.4
	M4	9.2	2.7	43.5
	M5	6.2	1.8	161.3
	M6	10.2	3.0	19.6
	M7	7.2	2.1	55.6
	M8	14.2	4.1	98.6
	M9	13.2	3.8	60.6
Bio-monitor	Average	9.9	2.9	72.3

In general, there is a relationship between the amount of precipitation and the concentration of microplastics (Figure 2.2; Appendix Table C2.5), which is widely observed for precipitation chemistry, i.e., during dry periods with low rainfall volume the concentration of pollutants is higher (Oji & Adamu, 2020; Weli, 2014; Taylor & Nakai, 2012). Similarly, surface water samples were influenced by flow during the drier period (June–August), i.e., the concentrations of microplastics in inflows/outflow and lake water were lower (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.2- Monthly microplastic concentrations in precipitation during June–October 2021 across the Port Perry and Blackstock Creek study sites.



Figure 2.3- Microplastic concentrations during May–October 2021 in (left) lake water by month across six sites, and (right) stream inflows (n=8) and the lake outflow by month. The box represents the 25th and 75th percentile, the horizantal line represents the median and the whiskers represent 1.5 times the interquartile range.

2.4.2 Microplastic Shape

Fibers were the dominant shape (77.4%) in all environmental samples (Table 2.4), which is similar to many other studies (Lenaker et al., 2019; Baldwin et al., 2016; Anderson et al., 2017; Welsh et al., 2022; Felismino et al., 2021). Welsh et al. (2022) found that 71% of microplastics in Muskoka-Haliburton lakes (n=3) were fibers, while Felismino et al (2021) found 82.4% of microplastics in Lake Simcoe were fibers. Sediment was the only sample type that had similar fiber (38.9%), fragment (28.8%) and film (31.3%) counts (Table 2.4), which may be due to fibers leaving the lake more easily through the outflow as they are the dominant shape found in the water column. Dusaucy et al. (2021) also found similar proportions of fibers and fragments in sediment samples across different lakes worldwide. Welsh et al. (2022) found the proportion of fragments to be two times greater than fibers in sediment. In contrast, Felismino et al. (2021) found that only 5% of microplastics in sediments were fragments, this low percentage may be due to the sampling screening cut-off range of 125 μ m.

The largest percentage of microfibers (97.3%) was observed in precipitation (Table 2.4). Welsh et al. (2022), Wright et al. (2020) and Abbasi & Turner (2021) also found that fibers were dominant in atmospheric deposition. Fibers are commonly found in the atmosphere as they easily detach from textiles during wear, washing, and drying (De Falco et al., 2018; Pirc et al., 2016; Napper & Thompson, 2016). Although fibers were dominant in atmospheric bio-monitor samples, these samples also had the second highest percentage of fragments, 14.1% (Table 2.4). The high percentage of fragments in the bio-monitors could be from automotive sources (such as tire wear) as the deployment sites were next to roads. Fragments tend to deposit close to their source, whereas fibers tend to remain suspended in the atmosphere and travel further from their source (Loppi et al., 2021).

Table 2.4- Fibers, fragments, films, and other particle types as a percentage and total count within each sample type.

	Percentage				Count			
	Fiber	Fragment	Film	Other	Fiber	Fragment	Film	Other
Inflows/Outflow	89.1	5.9	5.0	0.0	90	6	5	0
Lake	94.3	3.8	1.9	0.0	99	4	2	0
Trawl	87.6	10.8	1.0	0.5	170	21	2	1
Sediment	38.9	28.8	31.3	1.0	77	57	62	2
Precipitation	97.3	0.0	1.4	1.4	144	0	2	2
Bio-monitor	74.7	14.1	8.1	3.0	74	14	8	3
Percent/Total	77.4	12.1	9.6	0.9	654	102	81	8

2.4.3 Microplastic Composition

Thermoplastics were dominant across all sample media, the most common (52.7%) being polyester or polyethylene terephthalate (PET). The majority of fragments (28.5%) were

polypropylene (PP), while PET was the most common fiber polymer (49.3%). Within water (inflow, outflow, lake, trawl) and precipitation samples PET was 59.0% and 50.0% respectively (Figure 2.4). Whereas nitrile rubber (NR) was commonly found in the bio-monitors (37.5%; Figure 2.4) which could be from automotive sources, such as tire/brake wear (Sommer et al., 2018). Further, the polymers in the sediment samples were quite evenly distributed with the dominant types being PET, PP, polystyrene (PS) and polyvinyl chloride (PVC; Figure 2.4). These polymers have been widely reported by a number of different studies (Welsh et al., 2022; Felismino et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020; Abbasi & Turner, 2021; Allen et al., 2019). Felismino et al. (2021) found that PET was the most common plastic type in water samples and PS was common in sediment; further, Welsh et al. (2022) found PET was the most common (31%) polymer in precipitation.



Figure 2.4- Pie charts showing the proportion of different polymers in each sample media type across all shapes for Lake Scugog sampled during May–October 2021 (see Appendix Table C2.7).

2.4.4 Microplastic Size

The majority of microplastics (85%) across all samples were less than $2 \text{ mm} (2000 \, \mu \text{m})$ in length (Figure 2.5; Figure 2.6). For inflow and outflow samples the average length was 1.15 mm (see Appendix Table C2.8). Welsh et al. (2022) found the average length to be lower in inflow (0.55 mm; 550 µm) and outflow (0.37 mm; 370 µm) samples than the current study. The length of microplastics in the lake samples were similar to the inflow/outflow sample lengths at 1.06 mm (1060 µm; see Appendix Table C2.8); once again longer than Welsh et al. (2022), where the microplastics in lake samples (Muskoka-Haliburton) had an average length of 0.53 mm (530 µm). Microplastics may have been smaller in the Muskoka-Haliburton region because the area is distant from pollution sources resulting in microplastics travelling further; generally smaller microplastics travel greater distances through the atmosphere (Loppi et al., 2021). Whereas Lake Scugog is closer to possible pollution sources and larger microplastics do not travel as far. The length of microplastics in trawl samples was similar to the inflow/outflow and lake samples (0.95 mm; 950 µm; see Appendix Table C2.8). Microplastics in sediment samples had an average length of 1.17 mm (1170 µm; see Appendix Table C2.8); again, longer than Welsh et al. (2022) who found the average length to be 0.54 mm (540 μ m). The average length in precipitation samples was 1.43 mm (1430 μ m), higher than the length of microplastics found in the Muskoka-Haliburton region's precipitation (0.68 mm; 680 µm; Welsh et al., 2022). Once again most likely owing to the distance from pollution sources. The average length of microplastics found in the bio-monitor samples was 1.14 mm (1140 µm) with the average fiber length being 1.33 mm and the average fragment length being 0.43 mm, smaller than the length found in the precipitation samples. There were also more fragments found in the bio-monitors than precipitation (Table 2.4). The length of microfibers found in bio-monitors were similar to

Roblin et al. (2020a), who found the average fiber length to be 1.02 mm in passive bio-monitor samples in Ireland.



Figure 2.5- Histogram showing the distribution of microplastic lengths across all samples (precipitation, inflow streams, lake water, sediment, lake outflow, etc.) collected from Lake Scugog during May–October 2021.



Figure 2.6- Length of microplastics in each sample type collected from Lake Scugog during May– October 2021.

2.4.5 Microplastic Colour

Microplastic colour is generally identified to estimate possible microplastic sources however, this is a very limited approach due to the subjective nature of colour identification. In general, there were a few dominant colours across all shapes; most fibers were black (50.6%), while the dominant colour for fragments/films was white (18.9%), blue was the next most common colour for both shape categories (Figure 2.7). Similarly, Felismino et al. (2021) found blue and black to be the most common colours, and Welsh et al. (2022) found blue to be the dominant colour. Black and blue are the dominant colour of most clothes, e.g., denim jeans are worn by an estimated 46–56% of Canadians every day (Athey et al., 2020). Further, the average Canadian also washes their denim more than necessary, after only two wears, which potentially releases more microplastics into the environment. White and clear may have been abundant in fragments/films due to the loss of colour during environmental degradation, or bleaching during sample digestion (Dris et al., 2015; Baldwin et al., 2020).



Figure 2.7- Pie charts representing the proportion of different colours found across all samples for fragments/films (left) and fibers (right) for Lake Scugog sampled during May–October 2021.

2.4.6 Microplastic Fluxes and Particle Budget

The daily flux of microplastics into Lake Scugog was highest from atmospheric deposition (19.51 mp/m²/day), while the daily flux of microplastics out of the lake was highest in the lake outflow (3.05 mp/m²/day; Table 2.5). The dominant flux within the study area was atmospheric deposition, nearly four times greater than the greatest output. Deposition is important, but only bulk deposition was measured in this study, therefore it is important to quantify the potential contribution from dry deposition. Welsh et al. (2022) found similar results across three lakes in the Muskoka-Haliburton region; atmospheric deposition had the highest daily flux entering the lakes (3.84 mp/m²/day) and the lake outflow was the highest daily flux exiting the lakes (5.20 mp/m²/day), however the lake outflow was higher than the atmospheric deposition. Klein & Fischer (2019) found a much higher daily atmospheric deposition flux of 275 mp/m²/day across six sampling sites in Hamburg, Germany. The differences in concentrations across the three studies is most likely due to different methods and population densities, with the Muskoka Haliburton region having the lowest and Hamburg having the highest.

The inflow's daily flux range for the current study was 0.99-3.67 (S9–S3) mp/m²/day (Table 2.5). Similarly, Welsh et al. (2022) found the daily flux for inflows into the three lakes in the Muskoka-Haliburton region ranged between 1.24-2.98 mp/m²/day. In the current study, the S3 inflow is located in the Nonquon river, the wastewater treatment facilities discharge into the Nonquon river which may explain the high concentration of microplastics present in this inflow. Microplastic sedimentation had a daily flux of 2.13 mp/m²/day, which was similar to the daily flux that was found for sediment in the Muskoka-Haliburton region lakes (average of 1.90 mp/m²/day; Welsh et al., 2022).

The microplastic particle budget incorporated the dominant inputs (precipitation and stream inflows) and outputs (sedimentation and the lake outflow) of Lake Scugog catchment (Figure 2.8). The total daily input of microplastics into the lake was 2491×10^6 mp/day, while the output was 1761×10^6 mp/day, resulting in 29% being retained in the lake (Table 2.5). The retention rate was similar to three lakes in the Muskoka-Haliburton region, that ranged from 30–45% (Welsh et al., 2022). The total number of microplastics in the lake was 2.62×10^{11} mp with a residence time of one year in Lake Scugog. Further, 89% of microplastics atmospherically deposited onto the terrestrial catchment was estimated to be retained; $10,602 \times 10^6$ mp/day were deposited in precipitation on the terrestrial environment and $1,164 \times 10^6$ mp/day left the terrestrial environment via stream inflows.



Figure 2.8- The particle budget for Lake Scugog showing the number of microplastics per day entering and leaving the catchment resulting in 29% microplastic retention in the lake.

Table 2.5- Average concentration, drainage area, discharge, daily number, and daily microplastic flux stream inflows, lake outflow, sediment, precipitation for Lake Scugog based on

		Concentration	Drainage	Discharge	Number	Flux
Sample Type	Site ID	(mp/L)	area (ha)	(m^3/sec)	$(mp/day \times 10^6)$	(mp/m ² /day)
Precipitation	R1-2	8.08	6800	1.90	1327.0	19.51
Inflow	S 1	3.07	1270	0.11	30.2	2.38
Inflow	S 3	3.36	18470	2.33	677.6	3.67
Inflow	S4	2.40	1040	0.12	24.5	2.35
Inflow	S6	1.40	3790	0.33	40.4	1.07
Inflow	S7	2.90	2220	0.19	47.8	2.15
Inflow	S 8	3.00	1093	0.09	24.3	2.23
Inflow	S9	1.33	139	0.01	1.4	0.99
Inflow*	ungauged	2.36	18148	1.56	317.6	1.75
Lake Outflow	S10	3.05	52970	6.14	1616.7	3.05
Sediment	Sd1-6	2.19	6800	354.40	144.5	2.13
Lake Input					2491	
Lake Output					1761	

microplastics sampled during May-October 2021.

* Note: S2 and S5 are not included as they are part of S3; S2 was included in S3 and S5 was part of the same inflow as S3, S3 was used as it is closer to the lake.

2.4.7 Preliminary Estimates of Smaller Size Microplastics

The average concentration and range of microplastics within samples substantially increased once the fluorescent dye procedure was performed (Table 2.6). The majority (68.6– 95.3%) of microplastics found in all samples were 20–100 μ m (0.02–0.1 mm; Table 2.6). The concentration of microplastics increased the most in sediment samples; 95.3% of microplastics estimated were 20–100 μ m (Table 2.6). Trawl and precipitation samples had the lowest increase, 68.6% and 68.8% of microplastics were 20–100 μ m respectively (Table 2.6). Further, the majority (91.3%) of small microplastics were fragments (Table 2.7). Similarly, Allen et al. (2019) found that with decreasing microplastic size the amount of microplastics, and in particular fragments, increased; most fibers were >100 μ m and most fragments were between 20–100 μ m, with fragments accounting for 88% of the microplastics. While other studies have found fibers to be more dominant (Dris et al., 2015; Felismino et al., 2021), the differences between these studies and the current study are most likely due to different methods, i.e., detection of particles at different cut-off sizes and detection methodology.

The concentration of microplastics >100 μ m in sediment was 2.2 mp/g while microplastics >20 μ m was 47.1 mp/g (Table 2.6). This was the greatest increase; sediments may have had the highest increase due to more degradation occurring by the time they reach the sediments. Although the concentration of microplastics is higher, the overall mass of microplastics may not have increased that much. Although these are only preliminary estimates of microplastics in the size range 20–100 μ m it does show the importance of identification techniques used for counting microplastics. When extracting microplastics the type of equipment used also has an affect on the size of microplastics identified.

	-	-		
microplastics >2	0 μm (up to 5000 μm) acro	oss the differen	nt sample types	

Table 2.6- Average concentrations of microplastics >100 µm and estimated concentrations of

	Concentration	Concentration	20–100 µm
Sample Type	>100 µm	>20 µm	(%)
Tributary (mp/L)	2.4	9.8	75.5
Lake (mp/L)	2.9	11.7	75.2
Trawl (mp/m ³)	3.2	10.2	68.6
Sediment (mp/g)	2.2	47.1	95.3
Precipitation (mp/L)	8.1	26.0	68.8
Moss (mp/g)	2.5	26.4	90.5

Table 2.7- Percentages of fibers and fragments found in all samples for both size categories. Note: there were no films/other found in the $20-100 \,\mu\text{m}$ category.

	Fiber (%)	Frag (%)
20–100 µm	8.7	91.3
>100 µm	77.4	12.1

2.4.8 Limitations

There are a number of limitations in this study: (1) only dominant inputs and outputs were examined, (2) sampling was only performed for a six-month period, (3) small volume samples (1 L) were collected for stream inflows/outflow and lake water, and (4) there is limited knowledge on sedimentation rates of microplastics. Potential inputs missing from this study included street runoff, and direct human inputs (e.g., cottages, boating, fishing, etc.). The flux presented was based on the known concentrations for the six-month sampling period, and the most recent average discharge data (2005–2008) for the Lake Scugog catchment. It was assumed that the microplastic concentration determined for the six-month period was representative for the entire year; however, we have no knowledge of microplastic pathways and abundance during winter, under ice, and during snow melt. The microplastic sedimentation rate was based on the sedimentation rate of mineral sediment in Lake Scugog (near the Port Perry Harbor) for the top 5 cm (core depth of 52 cm) that was sampled as there is limited knowledge on the microplastic sedimentation rate in freshwater ecosystems. Also, ideally a second outflow sampling location should have been placed directly outside of the lake. Even with the limitations presented here, this study has addressed known knowledge gaps within the literature and is one of the only studies that has determined a microplastic particle budget. This study has attempted to understand the fate of microplastics within a lake and has identified major pathways of microplastics as well as how they are removed or permanently stored (Rochman & Hoellein,

2020; Brahney et al., 2021). Understanding the tendencies of microplastics in a freshwater system allows for better management.

2.5 Conclusion

This study estimated the abundance and distribution of microplastics as well as their daily inputs and outputs in Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario, using a particle balance approach; the inputs included atmospheric deposition and stream inflows, while the outputs included sedimentation and the lake outflow. In addition, microplastics >20 μ m were detected using a fluorescent dye procedure. The dominant flux within the study area was atmospheric deposition, nearly four times greater than the greatest output; the lake outflow. The estimated residence time of microplastics in Lake Scugog was one year. However, a greater number of microplastics entered Lake Scugog than left, resulting in 29% being retained. Atmospheric deposition is important, but only bulk deposition was measured in this study, therefore it is important to quantify the contribution from dry deposition. Microplastics <100 μ m were the most common across all environmental samples; with the largest proportion of smaller microplastics occurring in sediment samples. Better management techniques for plastic waste can only be implemented by understanding and quantifying the major pathways of microplastics.

2.6 References

- Abbasi, S. & Turner, A. 2021. Dry and wet deposition of microplastics in a semi-arid region (Shiraz, Iran). *Science of the Total Environment*. 786 (147358).
- Allen, S., Allen, D., Phoenix, V.R., Le Roux, G., Durántez Jiménez, P., Simonneau, A., Binet, S.
 & Galop, D. 2019. Atmospheric transport and deposition of microplastics in a remote mountain catchment. *Nature Geoscience*. 12, 339-344.
- Anderson, J.C., Park, B.J. & Palace, V.P. 2016. Microplastics in aquatic environments: Implications for Canadian ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution*. 218, 269-280.
- Anderson, P.J., Warrack, S., Langen, V., Challis, J.K., Hanson, M.L. & Rennie, M.D. 2017.
 Microplastic contamination in Lake Winnipeg, Canada. *Environmental Pollution*. 225, 223-231.
- Athey, S.N., Adams, J.K., Erdle, L.M., Jantunen, L.M., Helm, P.A., Finkelstein, S.A. & Diamond, M.L. 2020. The widespread environmental footprint of indigo denim microfibers from blue jeans. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 7, 840-847.
- Baldwin, A.K., Corsi, S.R. & Mason, S.A. 2016. Plastic debris in 29 Great Lakes tributaries:
 Relations to watershed attributes and hydrology. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 50, 10377-10385.
- Baldwin, A.K., Spanjer, A.R., Rosen, M.R. & Thom, T. 2020. Microplastics in Lake Mead National Recreation Area, USA: Occurrence and biological uptake. *PLoS ONE*. 15, 1-20.
- Ballent, A., Corcoran, P.L., Madden, O., Helm, P.A. & Longstaffe, F.J. 2016. Sources and sinks of microplastics in Canadian Lake Ontario nearshore, tributary and beach sediments.
 Marine Pollution Bulletin. 110 (1), 383-395.

- Banks, M.S. 2022. Microplastic in the Environment: Pattern and Process. (M.S. Banks, Ed.) Environmental Contamination Remediation and Management.
- Brahney, J., Hallerud, M., Heim, E., Hahnenberger, M., & Sukumaran, S. 2020. Plastic rain in protected areas of the United States. *Science*. 368, 1257-1260
- Brander, S.M., Venick, B.C., Foley, M.M., Steele, C., Woo, M., Lusher, A., Carr, S., Helm, P., Box, C., Cherniak, S., Andrews, R.C. & Rochman, C.M. 2020. Sampling and quality assurance and quality control: a guide for scientists investigating the occurrence of microplastics across matrices. *Applied Spectroscopy*. 74 (9), 1099 – 1125.
- Buckingham, J.W., Manno, C., Waluda, C.M. & Waller, C.L. 2022. A record of microplastic in the marine nearshore waters of South Georgia. *Environmental Pollution*. 306 (119379)
- Carr, S. A., Liu, J. & Tesoro, A.G. 2016. Transport and fate of microplastic particles in wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*. 91, 174-182.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C. & Galloway, T.S. 2011. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: a review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 62, 2588-2597.
- Coppock, R., Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Queirós, A. & Galloway, T. 2017. A small-scale, portable method for extracting microplastics from marine sediments. *Environmental Pollution*. 230, 829-837.
- Corcoran, P.L., Norris, T., Ceccanese, T., Walsak, M.J., Helm, P.A. & Marvin, C.H. 2015.Hidden plastics of Lake Ontario, Canada and their potential preservation in the sediment record. *Environmental Pollution*. 204, 17-25.

- Cowger, W., Steinmetz, Z., Gray, A., Munno, K., Lynch, J., Hapich, H., Primpke, S., De Frond,
 H., Rochman, C. & Herodotou, O. 2021. Microplastic spectral classification needs an
 open source community: Open Specy to the rescue! *Analytical Chemistry*. 93 (21), 7543-7548.
- Dean, B.Y., Corcoran, P.L. & Helm, P.A. 2018. Factors influencing microplastic abundances in nearshore, tributary and beach sediments along the Ontario shoreline of Lake Erie. *Journal of Great Lakes Research.* 44 (5), 1002-1009.
- De Falco, F., Gullo, M.P., Gentrile, G., Di Pace, E., Cocca, M., Gelabert, L., Brout-Agnésa, M., Rovira, A., Escudaro, R., Villalba, R., Mossotti, R., Montarsolo, A., Gavignano, S., Tonin, C. & Avella, M. 2018. Evaluation of microplastic release caused by textile washing processes of synthetic fabrics. *Environmental Pollution*. 236, 916-925.
- Dusaucy, J., Gateuille, D., Perrette, Y. & Naffrechoux, E. 2021. Microplastics pollution of worldwide lakes. *Environmental Pollution*. 284, 1-13.
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Rocher, V., Saad, M., Renault, N. & Tassin, B. 2015. Microplastic contamination in an urban area: A case study in Greater Paris. *Environmental Chemistry*. 12, 592-599.
- Eriksen, M., Mason, S., Wilson, S., Box, C., Zellers, A., Edwards, W., Farley, H. & Amato, S.
 2013. Microplastic pollution in the surface waters of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 77, 177-182.
- Erni-Cassola, G., Gibson, M.I., Thompson, R.C., Christie-Oleza, J.A. (2017). Lost, but found with Nile Red: A novel method for detecting and quantifying small microplastics (1 mm

to 20 μm) in environmental samples. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 51, 13641-13648.

- Felismino, M.E.L., Helm, P.A., & Rochman, C.M. 2021. Microplastics and other anthropogenic microparticles in water and sediments in Lake Simcoe. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*. 47, 180-189.
- Grbić, J., Helm, P., Athey, S. & Rochman, C.M. 2020. Microplastics entering northwestern Lake Ontario are diverse and linked to urban sources. *Water Research*. 174 (115623).
- Harrow-Lyle, T & Kirkwood, A. 2020. An Assessment of Lake Scugog Offshore Water Quality and Ecological Condition (2017-2019). Retrieved from https://scugoglakestewards.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/OTF-Technical-Report_Offshore-Study_FINAL-1.pdf
- Herrerea. A., Garrido-Amador, P., Martinez, I., Dolores Samper, M., Lopez-Martinez, J., Gomez, M. & Packard, T. 2018. Novel methodology to isolate microplastics from vegetal-rich samples. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 129 (1), 61-69.
- Hoellein, T.J. & Rochman, C.M. 2021. The "plastic cycle" : a watershed-scale model of plastic pools and fluxes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. 19 (3), 176-183.
- Horton, A.A. & Dixon, S.J. 2018. Microplastics: an introduction to environmental transport processes. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Review: Water*. 5 (2).
- ICP Vegetation. 2015. Monitoring of atmospheric deposition of heavy metals, nitrogen and POPs in Europe using bryophytes. Retrieved from

https://icpvegetation.ceh.ac.uk/sites/default/files/ICP%20Vegetation%20moss%20monito ring%20manual%202020.pdf

- Jiang, S., Yin, L., Zhiwei, L., Wen, X., Luo, X., Hu, S., Yang, H., Long, Y., Deng, B., Huang, L. & Liu, Y. 2019. Microplastic pollution in the rivers of the Tibet Plateau. *Environmental Pollution*. 249, 91-98.
- Kawartha Conservation. 2010. Lake Scugog Environmental Management Plan (LSEMP). Retrieved from <u>https://www.kawarthaconservation.com/en/resources/Lake-Management-Plans/LSEMP_May2010_FINAL.pdf</u>
- Kawartha Conservation. 2020. *Lake and Environmental Management Plans*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.kawarthaconservation.com/en/environmental-sciences/lake-and-</u> environmental-management-plans.aspx#Lake-Scugog
- Kay, P., Hiscoe, R., Moberley, I., Bajic, L. & McKenna, N. 2018. Wastewater treatment plants as a source of microplastics in river catchments. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research.* 25, 20264-20267.
- Klein, S., Worch, E. & Knepper, T.P. 2015. Occurrence and spatial distribution of microplastics in river shore sediments of the Rhine-Main area in Germany. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 49, 6070-6076.
- Klein, M. & Fischer, E. 2019. Microplastic abundance in atmospheric deposition within the Metropolitan area of Hamburg, Germany. *Science of the Total Environment*. 685, 96-103.

- Labbe, A.B., Bagshaw, C.R. & Uttal, L. 2020. Inexpensive adaptations of basic microscopes for the identification of microplastic contamination using polarization and Nile red fluorescence detection. *Chemical Education*. 97, 4026-4032.
- Lenaker, P.L., Baldwin, A.K., Corsi, S.R., Mason, S.A., Reneau, P.C. & Scott, J.W. 2019. Vertical distribution of microplastics in the water column and surficial sediment from the Milwaukee River Basin to Lake Michigan. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 53, 12227-12237.
- Li, C., Busquets, R. & Campos, L.C. 2020. Assessment of microplastics in freshwater systems: A review. *Science of the Total Environment*. 707 (135578).
- Loppi, S., Roblin, B., Paoli, L. & Aherne, J. 2021. Accumulation of airborne microplastics in lichens from a landfill dumping site (Italy). *Scientific Reports*. 11, 1-5.
- Lusher, A.L., Brate, I.L.N., Munno, K., Hurley, R.R. & Welden, N.A. 2020. Is it or isn't it: the importance of visual classification in microplastic characterization. *Applied Spectroscopy*. 74 (9), 1139-1153.
- Ma, P., Wang, M.W., Chen, Y.C. & Xia, J. 2019. Research on ecotoxicology of microplastics on freshwater aquatic organisms. *Environmental Pollutants and Bioavailability*. 31 (1), 131-137.
- Masura, J., Baker, J., Foster, G. & Arthur, C. 2015. Laboratory methods for the analysis of microplastics in the marine environment: recommendations for quantifying synthetic particles in waters and sediments. *NOAA Technical Memorandum NOSOR&R-48*.

- Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry. 2020. Ontario Flow Assessment Tool. Retrieved from <u>https://www.lioapplications.lrc.gov.on.ca/OFAT/index.html?viewer=OFAT.OFAT</u>
- Napper, I.E. & Thompson, R.C., 2016. Release of synthetic microplastic plastic fibres from domestic washing machines: effects of fabric type and washing conditions. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 112, 39-45.
- Norén, F. 2007. Small microplastics in coastal Swedish. KIMO Sweden.
- Nuelle, M-T., Dekiff, J.H., Remy, D. & Fries, E. 2014. A new analytical approach for monitoring microplastics in marine sediments. *Environmental Pollution*. 184, 161-169.
- Oji, S. & Adamu, H. 2020. Correlation between air pollutants concentration and meteorological factors on seasonal air quality variation. *Journal of Air Pollution and Health.* 5 (1), 11-32.
- PAST. 2020. PAleontoogical Statistics Version 4.10.
- Pirc, U., Vidmar, M., Mozer, A. & Krzan, A. 2016. Emissions of microplastic fibers from microfiber fleece during domestic washing. *Environmental Science Pollution and Research.* 23, 22206-22211.
- Roblin, B. & Aherne, J. 2020a. Moss as a biomonitor for the atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic microfibres. *Science of the Total Environment*. 715.
- Roblin, B., Ryan, M., Vreugdenhil, A. & Aherne, J. 2020b. Ambient atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic microfibers and microplastics on the western periphery of Europe (Ireland). *Environmental Science and Technology*. 54, 11100-11108.

- Rochman, C.M., & Hoellein, T.J. 2020. The global odyssey of plastic pollution. *Science*. 368, 1184-1185.
- Sarijan, S., Azman, S., Said, M.I.M. & Jamal, M.H. 2021. Microplastics in freshwater ecosystems: a recent review of occurrence, analysis, potential impacts, and research needs. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 28, 1341-1356.
- Schell, T., Hurley, R., Nizzetto, L., Rico, A. & Vighi, M. 2021. Spatio-temporal distribution of microplastics in a Mediterranean river catchment: The importance of wastewater as an environmental pathway. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 420 (126481).
- Sol, D., Laca, A., Laca, A. & Díaz, M. 2020. Approaching the environmental problem of microplastics: Importance of WWTP treatments. *Science of the Total Environment*. 740 (140016).
- Sommer, F., Dietze, V., Baum, A., Sauer, J., Gilge, S., Maschowski, C. & Gieré, R. 2018. Tire abrasion as a major source of microplastics in the environment. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research.* 18 (8).
- Statistics Canada. 2017. Scugog, Ontario, Port Perry, Ontario Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada catalogue no. 98-316-X2016001. Released November 29, 2017. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dppd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed January 21, 2022)
- Taylor, E.T. & Nakai, S. 2012. Monitoring the levels of toxic air pollutants in the ambient air of Freetown, Sierra Leone. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 6 (7), 283-292.

- Vaughan, R., Turner, S.D. & Rose, N.L. 2017. Microplastics in the sediments of a UK urban lake. *Environmental Pollution*. 229, 10-18.
- Weli, V.E. 2014. Atmospheric concentration of particulate pollutants and its implications for respiratory health hazard management in the Port Harcourt Metropolis, Nigeria. *Civil and Environmental Research.* 6 (5).
- Welsh, B., Aherne, J., Paterson, A.M., Yao, H. & McConnell, C. 2022. Atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic particles and microplastics in south-central Ontario, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment.* 835 (155426).
- Willis, K.A., Eriksen, R., Wilcox, C. & Hardesty, B.D. 2017. Microplastic distribution at different sediment depths in an urban estuary. *Frontiers in Marine Science*. 4 (419).
- Wiklund, J.A. & Hall, R.I. 2017. *Sediment accumulation rates of Lake Scugog near Port Perry*. [Unpublished report] University of Waterloo.
- Windsor, F.M., Tilley, R.M., Tyler, C.R. & Ormerod, S.J. 2019. Microplastic ingestion by riverine macroinvertebrates. *Science of the Total Environment*. 646, 68-74.
- Wright, S.L., Ulke, J., Font, A., Chan, K.L.A. & Kelly, F.J. 2020. Atmospheric microplastic deposition in an urban environment and an evaluation of transport. *Environmental International.* 136 (105411).
- Xia, W., Rao, Q., Deng, X., Chen, J. & Xie, P. 2020. Rainfall is a significant environmental factor of microplastic pollution in inland waters. *Science of the Total Environment*. 732 (139065).

Yang, S., Zhou, M., Chen, X., Hu, L., Xu, Y., Fu, W. & Li, C. 2022. A comparative review of microplastics in lake systems from different countries and regions. *Chemosphere*. 286 (131806).
Table A2.1- Location (latitude, longitude) of study sites in the Lake Scugog catchment, including inflows/outflow (S), lake (L), trawl (T), sediment (Sd), precipitation (R), and bio-monitors (M). Lake and sediment locations were the same and the trawl was performed at L1. Note: S4 was only sampled once (May). See Figure 2.1 for mapped location.

Site ID	Sample Type	Latitude	Longitude
S1	Inflow	44.23293	-78.91892
S2	Inflow	44.19159	-78.98571
S3	Inflow	44.20042	-78.94947
S4	Inflow	44.12035	-78.95384
S5	Inflow	44.08667	-79.00630
S6	Inflow	44.13188	-78.82872
S7	Inflow	44.10288	-78.93047
S8	Inflow	44.11427	-78.84506
S9	Inflow	44.10543	-78.94545
S10	Outflow	44.32772	-78.73026
L1, Sd1, T1	Lake, Sediment, Trawl	44.20234	-78.79567
L2, Sd2	Lake, Sediment	44.15724	-78.84243
L3, Sd3	Lake, Sediment	44.20772	-78.85471
L4, Sd4	Lake, Sediment	44.20477	-78.89927
L5, Sd5	Lake, Sediment	44.17678	-78.91648
L6, Sd6	Lake, Sediment	44.10895	-78.93733
R1	Precipitation	44.11064	-78.96056
R2	Precipitation	44.13183	-78.82906
M1	Bio-Monitor	44.21717	-78.83932
M2	Bio-Monitor	44.23293	-78.91892
M3	Bio-Monitor	44.18070	-78.93415
M4	Bio-Monitor	44.10540	-78.94537
M5	Bio-Monitor	44.16972	-78.89462
M6	Bio-Monitor	44.19776	-78.89171
M7	Bio-Monitor	44.20483	-78.86094
M8	Bio-Monitor	44.15699	-78.83699
M9	Bio-Monitor	44.21294	-78.77307

Table A2.2- The number of microplastics in blanks for all sample types, these counts include both field and laboratory blanks.

Sample Type	Number of Microplastics
Inflow/Outflow	0.6
Lake	0.6
Trawl	3.3
Sediment	2.0
Precipitation	0.6
Bio-monitor	1.2

Table A2.3- The variability for all field duplicate samples and triplicate analytical sub-samples (i.e., sediment). The CV% is presented for all triplicates and the RPD% is presented for all duplicates.

Sample		Variability	Variability
Туре	Site ID	Test	(%)
Inflow	Jul S3	Duplicate	200.0
Inflow	Aug S2	Duplicate	40.0
Inflow	Sep S1	Duplicate	0.0
Inflow	Oct S2	Duplicate	0.0
Lake	Jul L6	Duplicate	25.0
Lake	Aug L3	Duplicate	66.7
Lake	Oct L2	Duplicate	28.6
Sediment	Oct Sd1	Triplicate	6.9
Sediment	Oct Sd2	Triplicate	16.7
Sediment	Oct Sd3	Triplicate	23.6
Sediment	Oct Sd4	Triplicate	11.1
Sediment	Oct Sd5	Triplicate	50.0
Sediment	Oct Sd6	Triplicate	28.4
Moss	Jun-Aug M1	Duplicate	0.0
Moss	Jun-Aug M2	Duplicate	100.0
Moss	Jun-Aug M3	Duplicate	22.2
Moss	Jun-Aug M4	Duplicate	50.0
Moss	Jun-Aug M5	Duplicate	66.7
Moss	Jun-Aug M6	Duplicate	28.6
Moss	Jun-Aug M7	Duplicate	120.0
Moss	Jun-Aug M8	Duplicate	138.5

Moss	Jun-Aug M9	Duplicate	90.9
Moss	Aug-Oct M1	Duplicate	40.0
Moss	Aug-Oct M2	Duplicate	76.9
Moss	Aug-Oct M3	Duplicate	0.0
Moss	Aug-Oct M4	Duplicate	66.7
Moss	Aug-Oct M5	Duplicate	0.0
Moss	Aug-Oct M6	Duplicate	50.0
Moss	Aug-Oct M7	Duplicate	85.7
Moss	Aug-Oct M8	Duplicate	0.0
Moss	Aug-Oct M9	Duplicate	85.7

The particle budget was based on all microplastic types combined rather than individual shapes as there were sampling limitations. When separated into a fiber and fragment particle budget, more fragments leave the lake than enter (Table A2.4). This may be for a couple reasons: (1) the fibers may have degraded into fragments, or (2) the 1 L grab samples may not have been a good representation for shape diversity across the samples (see Appendix B).

Table A2.4- Individual particle budget for fragments and fibers, providing an estimate of the amount entering the lake, leaving the lake, and being retained within the lake.

	Fibers	Fragments
Lake Input (×10 ⁶ mp/day)	2045	128
Lake Output (×10 ⁶ mp/day)	1723	211
Difference ($\times 10^6$ mp/day)	322	-83
Retained in Lake (%)	16	-65

Table A2.5- The statistical analysis tests performed for all sample types along with their p-values.

Sample Type	Statistical Test	p-value
Inflow/Outflow (Spatial)	One-way Anova	p = 0.66
Inflow/Outflow (Seasonal)	One-way Anova	p = 0.10
Lake (Spatial)	One-way Anova	p = 0.69
Lake (Seasonal)	One-way Anova	p = 0.15
Sediment	One-way Anova	p = 0.000017
Precipitation	One-way Anova	p = 0.11
Bio-monitor	One-way Anova	p = 0.75

Table A2.6- Scale factors for all sample types, the scale factors were multiplied by the >100 μ m counts to determine the total (>20–100 μ m + >100 μ m) counts for all microplastics.

Scale Factor
4.11
4.11
3.17
18.18
3.22
10.71

Appendix B- High Volume Samples

During October 2021 both low volume (1 L) and high volume (500 L) samples were performed at three lake sites (L2, L4, L6) to compare the concentration of microplastics and sample volumes. The low volume samples were taken into a wide-mouth glass jar, the jar was rinsed with the sample water at each site, and filled at a depth of 10 cm. The high volume samples were taken using a 50 μ m plankton net and water pump. The water (500 L) was pumped (approximately 15 min) into the plankton net, the cod end was then emptied and rinsed into a glass jar. A field blank was performed after the sampling was complete, the net and cod end were rinsed into a stainless-steel bowl with one-liter of filtered B-pure water, which was then transferred to a glass jar.

The average concentration for the low volume sample was 5.1 mp/L and the high volume was 1.1 mp/L (Table B2.1). While the grab sample is limited as the sample volume is low, the high volume sample is also limited as the water needs to go through a 50 μ m net resulting in a loss of microplastics. The high volume sample attains a more diverse concentration of shapes, while the low volume sample is limited. The low volume samples all consisted of only fibers, while the high volume samples contained fragments, fibers, films and other; with fibers having the highest concentration.

Table B2.1- Plankton net and grab lake water samples performed in October 2021, comparing the concentration of microplastics in high volume (500 L) and low volume (1 L) samples.

Sample Type	Concentration (mp/500 L)	Concentration (mp/L)
Pump with Plankton Net	269.0	0.5
	527.0	1.1
	895.0	1.8
Average	563.7	1.1
Grab	-	4.4
	-	8.4
	-	2.4
Average	_	5.1

Appendix C- Results

Table C2.1- Concentration (mp/L) of microplastics at every inflow/outflow site for all months sampled. Note: some sites were not sampled every month.

	S 1	S2	S 3	S 4	S5	S 6	S 7	S 8	S9	S10
May	4.4	0.4	-	2.4	3.4	-	4.4	3.4	4.4	-
Jun	2.4	1.4	3.4	-	0	3.4	1.4	8.4	0.4	-
Jul	3.4	0.4	1.2	-	2.4	1.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0
Aug	4.4	1.9	2.4	-	3.4	0.4	1.4	-	0.4	0.4
Sep	1.4	5.4	6.4	-	2.4	0.4	7.4	2.4	2.4	7.4
Oct	2.4	1.4	3.4	-	0	1.4	2.4	0.4	0	4.4

Table C2.2- Concentration (mp/L) of microplastics at every lake site for all months sampled.

	L1	L2	L3	L4	L5	L6
May	7.4	1.4	1.4	5.4	7.4	5.4
June	3.4	5.4	2.4	2.4	1.4	0.4
July	0.4	0.4	1.4	1.4	2.4	7.4
Aug	3.4	0.4	0.9	1.4	0.0	3.4
Sept	4.4	5.4	2.4	3.4	3.4	0.4
Oct	2.4	2.9	1.4	3.4	3.4	3.4

Table C2.3- Concentration (mp/m³) of microplastics at the trawl site in triplicate, sampled once

in October.

	T1
Trawl 1	4.3
Trawl 2	1.9
Trawl 3	3.4

Table C2.4- Concentration (mp/g) of microplastics at the sediment sites in triplicate analytical sub-samples, sampled once in October.

Sd1 #1	3.6
Sd1 #2	3.2
Sd1 #3	3.2
Sd2 #1	3.6
Sd2 #2	4.2
Sd2 #3	3.0
Sd3 #1	2.2
Sd3 #2	2.6
Sd3 #3	1.6
Sd4 #1	2.0
Sd4 #2	1.8
Sd4 #3	1.6
Sd5 #1	0.8
Sd5 #2	1.2
Sd5 #3	0.4
Sd6 #1	1.8
Sd6 #2	1.0
Sd6 #3	16

Table C2.5- Concentration (mp/L) of microplastics and volume (L) of precipitation collected at the precipitation sites for all months sampled.

	Port	Port Perry		Blackstock Creek	
Month	Liters	mp/L	Liters	mp/L	
June	4.85	5.77	5.32	8.59	
July	4.11	11.30	5.32	4.64	
Aug	1.58	16.43	1.48	9.52	
Sept	5.07	7.46	9.50	4.22	
Oct	2.18	9.46	4.93	3.43	

Table C2.6- Concentration (mp/g) of microplastics at the bio-monitor sites for all months sampled.

	Jun–Aug	Aug-Oct
M1	1.0	1.6
M2	1.0	6.0
M3	3.8	3.2
M4	3.2	2.1
M5	0.5	3.2
M6	2.7	3.2
M7	1.6	2.7
M8	6.0	2.1
M9	4.9	2.7

Table C2.7- All polymer types found across all sample media along with the hit rate, which represents the correlation between the sample spectra and polymer library spectra; water includes inflow, outflow, and lake water. The spectrum for each sample were uploaded to an online library of polymer spectra (OpenSpecy: <u>https://openanalysis.org/openspecy/</u>), which reported the correlation (hit rate) between the sample and library entries. The higher the hit rate the greater the likelihood of exact polymer identification.

Media	Shape	Polymer	Hit Rate
Water	Fiber	Polypropylene	0.38
Water	Fragment	Polypropylene	0.44
Water	Fiber	Nitrile Rubber	0.45
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.32
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.47
Water	Fiber	Polypropylene	0.95
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.66
Water	Fiber	Polycarbonate	0.24
Water	Fiber	Nylon	0.45
Water	Fiber	Nylon	0.47
Water	Fiber	Polyvinylchloride	0.32
Water	Fiber	Polyvinylchloride	0.31
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.21
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.62

Water	Fiber	Polystyrene	0.27
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.28
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.89
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.95
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.84
Water	Fiber	Polyester	0.94
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.95
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.49
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.60
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.91
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.90
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.97
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.88
Water	Fiber	Nylon	0.55
Water	Fiber	Nitrile Rubber	0.23
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.38
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.65
Water	Fiber	Polyvinylchloride	0.93
Water	Fiber	Polvester	0.51
Water	Fragment	Polvester	0.85
Trawl	Fiber	Polypropylene	0.92
Trawl	Fiber	Polyvinyl alcohol	0.81
Trawl	Fiber	Polyester	0.53
Trawl	Fiber	Polyester	0.56
Trawl	Fiber	Polvester	0.94
Trawl	Fragment	Polyvinyl acetate	0.86
Trawl	Fiber	Polyester	0.85
Precipitation	Fiber	Nitrile Rubber	0.46
Precipitation	Fiber	Polyvinyl acetate	0.34
Precipitation	Fiber	Polyester	0.98
Precipitation	Fiber	Polyvinyl acetate	0.32
Precipitation	Fiber	Nitrile Rubber	0.60
Precipitation	Fiber	Polvester	0.98
Precipitation	Fiber	Polyester	0.91
Precipitation	Fiber	Nvlon	0.40
Precipitation	Fiber	Polvester	0.63
Bio-monitor	Fiber	Polvester	0.29
Bio-monitor	-	Nitrile Rubber	0.77
Bio-monitor	-	Nvlon	0.28
Bio-monitor	Fragment	Polypropylene	0.78
Bio-monitor	Fiber	Polypropylene	0.96
Bio-monitor	Fragment	Nitrile Rubber	0.90
Bio-monitor	Fiber	Polyester	0.91
Sediment	Fiber	Polvester	0.61

Sediment	Fragment	Polystyrene	0.80
Sediment	Fiber	Polyester	0.86
Sediment	Fiber	Polystyrene	0.95
Sediment	-	Polyvinylchloride	0.95
Sediment	-	Polycarbonate	0.45
Sediment	-	Polypropylene	0.33
Sediment	-	Polyvinylchloride	0.26
Sediment	-	Polypropylene	0.34
Sediment	-	Polycarbonate	0.39

Table C2.8- Average length of microplastics for each sample type.

Sample Type	Average Length (mm)
Inflow/Outflow	1.15
Lake	1.06
Trawl	0.95
Sediment	1.17
Precipitation	1.43
Bio-monitor	1.14
Total	1.17

Chapter 3: Dry deposition of atmospheric microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario

3.1 Abstract

There is growing recognition of the importance of the atmosphere as a pathway of microplastic deposition to background regions. Atmospheric deposition of microplastics includes both wet and dry deposition, however few studies have focused on dry deposition. In this study, the dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, was determined using a laboratory measured settling velocity for polyester fibers and observations of ambient air concentrations of microplastics. The average dry deposition rate of microplastics in Port Perry was found to be 1257 mp/m²/day during November 1–5, 2021. This rate was determined using a measured settling velocity of 0.11 m/s and ambient air concentrations of 0.132 mp/m³. The dry deposition rate was high when compared to bulk deposition in Port Perry, this may be due to the settling velocity being determined in a laboratory setting with no meteorological conditions applied to it.

3.2 Introduction

Plastics are considered an environmental contaminant owing to their chemical additives, the pollutants that bind to them, and the risk of physical harm when ingested (Cole et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2014). Plastic production rates have increased drastically during the past seven decades, from two metric tons in 1950 to 380 metric tons in 2015 (Bianco & Passananti, 2020; Allen et al., 2019; Geyer et al., 2017). At the same time, the rate of plastic pollution has also increased, with 55% of all plastic produced in 2015 discarded to landfills or the natural environment (Geyer et al., 2017; Bagaev et al., 2017; Lusher et al., 2015; Ritchie & Roser, 2018).

There has been a growing focus on microplastics (plastic particles <5 mm; 5000 μ m) during the last few decades, as they have been widely observed in both aquatic and terrestrial

environments (Cai et al., 2017; Anderson et al., 2016; Felismino et al., 2022). While the majority of studies have focused on microplastics in marine ecosystems, the atmosphere is now recognized as "an enormous microscopic problem" (Bianco & Passananti, 2020; Liu et al., 2019b), as it is a major pathway of microplastics to remote regions (Evangeliou et al., 2020; GOC, 2020) This is evident by observations of microplastics in remote areas of the world, such as the Pyrenees, the Swiss Alps, and the Arctic (Allen et al., 2019; Bergmann et al., 2019). Generally, microplastics in the atmosphere are dominated by fibers, particularly polyester fibers (Welsh et al., 2022; Prata et al., 2020; Dris et al., 2017).

Atmospheric deposition of microplastics includes both wet and dry deposition; wet deposition occurs through rain or snowfall, where microplastics are washed out of the atmosphere by rainwater droplets, while dry deposition occurs through particle settling. A number of studies have reported wet or bulk deposition of microplastics (e.g., Welsh et al., 2022; Klein & Fischer, 2019; Allen et al., 2019; Roblin et al., 2020); however, few if any studies have focused on dry deposition. Ultimately, the quantification of dry deposition provides a more holistic understanding of deposition, transport, and the nature of atmospheric microplastics (Abbasi & Turner, 2021).

Dry deposition is generally determined from observations of air concentrations and estimates of particle settling velocities. A few studies have presented preliminary theoretical estimates for the settling velocity of microplastics (Wright et al., 2020; Allen et al., 2019); alternatively, laboratory-based experiments can be used to directly measure settling velocity following studies on non-plastic particles (Richards-Thomas & McKenna-Neuman, 2020).

The overall objective of this study was to determine the dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, using a laboratory measured settling velocity and ambient air concentrations of microplastics. Polyester microfibers were used to determine the settling velocity as they are the most common microplastic found in the atmosphere (Chapter 2; Liu et al., 2019a; Welsh et al., 2022; Wright et al., 2019). The settling velocity was determined using a drop column and a Dantec Laser Doppler Anemometer (LDA). Daily ambient air concentrations of microplastics were measured in Port Perry for five consecutive days in November 2021 using an active highvolume air sampler.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Study Area

The town of Port Perry (population 9,553; Statistics Canada, 2021) is located within the Region of Durham, south-central Ontario, Canada. It is approximately 80 km northeast of Toronto (Figure 3.1) and is the main urban center on Lake Scugog (Kawartha Conservation, 2010). The current study measured ambient air concentrations of microplastics at one site (44.10747, –78.94451) in Port Perry (Figure 3.1). Recently, the bulk deposition of microplastics was also measured in Port Perry (44.11064, –78.96056) using a NILU microplastic bulk deposition collector (PN. 9735) for five months (June–October) in 2021; these data provide wet deposition and a portion of dry deposition. The average temperature during the current study period was 2.5°C, the average precipitation was 0.34 mm (see Appendix Table A3.1) and the wind direction was mainly from the south-west with an average speed of 8.2 km/hr (Figure 3.1). Traffic volumes for the area (1.7 km from the study site) during peak travel hours (7–9 am and 4–6 pm) are approximately 74 cars per hour (GHD Consultants, 2019).



Figure 3.1 - Location of the ambient air sampler in Port Perry, next to Lake Scugog. The wind rose shows the wind direction and speed during November 1–5, 2021 mainly coming from the south-west.

3.3.2 Field Sampling

During November 1–5, 2021 (5 days), an active high-volume air sampler (which sampled at 67.96 m³/hr; Model: Hi-Q HVP-3300BRL) was placed on the roof of a municipal building (44.10747, –78.94451; approximately 3 m above ground) to avoid disturbance and to ensure unimpeded airflow. The sampler contained a 22.5 cm by 17.5 cm cellulose filter paper that was changed daily (~24 hrs; see Appendix Table A3.2). The exposed filter was stored in an aluminum foil container to avoid contamination. A field blank was performed by placing a blank filter paper on the sampler and removing it; the blank was processed in the same manner as the field samples.

3.3.3 Laboratory Analysis

In the laboratory, three circles (analytical sub-samples of 5 cm diameter from three random locations) were cut out of each filter paper including the blank from the high-volume air sampler (n=18). All filter circles underwent visual analysis using a stereomicroscope with a digital camera (Amscope with Infinity 2 Teledyne Lumenera camera). Brightfield microscopy is widely used to detect microplastics >50 μ m, although in general the detection size is typically >100 μ m (>0.1 mm), and the detection of clear plastic particles is difficult (Erni-Cassola et al., 2017; Labbe et al., 2020). However, clear plastic particles will auto fluoresce under certain wavelengths, such as a blue-light (wavelength 460 nm) source (Stanton et al., 2019). In the current study, brightfield microscopy and blue-light fluorescence were performed on all samples.

Visual analysis of plastic particles adhered to a widely used identification protocol (Roblin et al., 2020; Windsor et al., 2019; Norén, 2007) based on five criteria: (i) the particle is unnaturally coloured; (ii) it is homogenous in material and texture with no cell structure or offshoots present; (iii) the particle is not brittle and does not break when poked, tugged or compressed with tweezers; (iv) it is shiny or glossy in appearance; and (v) there is limited fraying with no similarity to natural particles. Suspected plastic particles were photographed and then confirmed using a hot needle test following Roblin et al. (2020). A hot needle was pressed against the particle, if it melted it was classified as plastic, the image of the microplastic was then measured by converting the number of pixels to a known length in millimeters using the image processing software, ImageJ. The length, width, colour, and type (fiber or fragment) of each microplastic were recorded. Filter papers were then examined under blue-light to identify autofluorescing particles; if a particle fluoresced it was hot-needled, these microplastics were not photographed as the fluorescing particles created a halo that made capturing and measuring the image difficult.

3.3.4 Quality Control and Assurance

Glass and metal materials were used where possible throughout field and laboratory work, however some plastic needed to be used (petri dishes, B-pure water spray bottle, etc.). For ambient air, three 5 cm subsamples from each filter (triplicates) were analyzed to assess variability and confirm that the area analyzed (3×5 cm circles) was adequate. Open air blanks consisting of a clean glass fiber filter paper (FisherbrandTM G6 1.6 µm) in a petri dish were exposed for one hour during both the extraction and counting processes (n=4) and used to determine potential in-lab contamination. The period of time that samples were exposed during all laboratory procedures (extraction, counting, etc.) was also recorded. Further, the field blanks were used to determine potential contamination through the entire laboratory procedure. All equipment and sample containers were triple rinsed with filtered B-pure water (to remove any possible microplastics).

3.3.5 Settling Velocity of Polyester Microfibers

The settling velocity was determined for microplastic polyester fibers obtained from a 100% polyester scarf. The material was repeatedly cut with a rotary cutter to obtain particle fibers predominantly <1 mm (<1000 μ m). Anti-static gloves were worn while cutting and handling the fibers during all laboratory tests. The polyester fibers were sieved to select microfibers <1 mm; however, due to the rod-like shape of the fibers, some longer fibers passed through the sieve as well. This size category was chosen as microfibers <1 mm are generally the most common lengths observed in the environment (Allen et al., 2019; Roblin et al., 2020; Dris et al., 2016; Wright et al., 2020). Further, this size was within the range of microplastics found in bulk deposition in Port Perry (see Chapter 2).

The length of the laboratory manufactured microfibers was measured to determine the accuracy of the cutting and sieving. A 4 $g \pm 0.003$ g sample was released through a sieve with a

1.5 mm mesh size onto a microscope slide (2.5 cm by 7.5 cm); ten replicates were performed. The subset of fibers that landed on the microscope slide were photographed (Digital Single-Lens Reflex Canon Camera) and measured using ImageJ; approximately 1500 fibers were manually measured (50–350 fibers per slide; see Appendix Figure A3.1 for example photographs). Fibers that extended over the edge of the slide or overlapped other fibers were eliminated from the analysis.

The LDA and fall column (242 cm tall) were placed in an environmentally controlled chamber (constant temperature of $20 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and minimal air movement) and used to determine the settling velocity of the polyester microfibers. Other meteorological conditions (wind, humidity, etc.) were not taken into account when determining the settling velocity. The LDA attains high-resolution velocity measurements using four laser beams, without disturbing the air column (Richards-Thomas & McKenna-Neuman, 2020). It measures the doppler shift of light that is scattered from particles passing through the intersection of lasers (Buchhave & George, 1979). The laser beam was split into two beams each with a wavelength of $\lambda = 0.660 \,\mu\text{m}$, this pair of beams measured a single velocity component, perpendicular to the bisector of the beams (Durst et al., 1981). To determine the particle velocity in another dimension an additional pair of beams was required, these additional beams needed to have a different wavelength ($\lambda = 0.785$ μm) so that the signals for each component could be distinguished (Durst et al., 1981; Drain, 1980; Richards-Thomas & McKenna-Neuman, 2020). The size and shape of a particle affects the amount of beam scattering, because of this, calibration tests were performed on the LDA to attain the correct gain (boosted the signal/noise ratio) and validation (averaged the measurements to avoid collecting "noise" data) settings for polyester microfibers (see Appendix B).

The LDA was positioned in front of the fall column, which was constructed from a Sonotube (inner diameter 29 cm, the top was covered, and a 16 cm opening was cut out to deploy fibers) with a softwood base (height 5 cm by width 10 cm). The four beams from the LDA entered through a Perspex® window (9 cm by 23 cm, 37 cm from the floor), which was cleaned between tests (see Appendix Figure A3.2). The beams were positioned so that their intersection point was directly in the center of the fall column, 182 cm below the point of fiber release and 60 cm from the floor to reduce the detection of upward moving particles. There were two congruent vents (10 cm by 20 cm) approximately 15 cm from the floor, these were used to prevent the development of a pressure gradient within the fall column and decrease the amount of upward moving particles (Figure 3.2). Fibers were released manually at the top of the column (through the 16 cm opening) from a glass jar with a metal screen lid (1.5 mm mesh size) by gently shaking for approximately 20–30 seconds. Each replicate weighed 4 g \pm 0.003 g and provided approximately 1000–2500 particle velocity measurements. The lid of the release container was grounded between experiments to reduce static charge. A collection sheet was placed at the bottom for recovery and re-use of the fibers, this was changed between every 10 replicates and the recovered microfibers were stored in glass jars. A typical fall column run lasted between 10-15 minutes, which was ample time for all fibers to reach the collection sheet. After 5–7 minutes the count rate dropped to zero and the beam was no longer visible indicating the absence of particle interception. A total of 20 replicate measurements were carried out.



Figure 3.2- Diagram of the fall column apparatus used to measure the settling velocity of fibers. The vertical and horizontal settling velocities were both determined by manually dropping the fibers from the top of the column. Lasers entering through the Perspex window intersected directly in the middle of the column to obtain measurements. Note the diagram is not to scale.

3.3.6 Data Analysis

Daily microplastic counts were estimated by areal upscaling of the cut-out circle filter papers (19.63 cm²) to determine the count for the entire filter paper (393.75 cm²). The counts from the three circle cut-outs (triplicate sub-samples) were averaged and scaled up using a factor of 20.05 to attain the daily microplastic count for each entire filter paper. The dry deposition $(mp/m^2/day)$ was calculated using the number of microplastics on the entire filter paper (mp), the

volume of air sampled (m³), and the median deposition velocity determined in the lab study (m/day). It was assumed that fragments had the same settling velocity as fibers. For each sample type the average field blank was subtracted from the concentration; however, no microplastics were found in the laboratory open air blanks.

Dry Deposition $(mp/m^2/day) = Daily Microplastic Count (mp) \div Volume of Air Sampled (m³) × Deposition Velocity (m/day)$

The output of the LDA provided both a horizontal and vertical settling velocity component, the horizontal component was used for filtering purposes only. In total 48,707 (46.7%) of the measured settling velocities were screened and removed based on three criteria: (i) if the horizontal component was greater than the vertical component, the measurement was removed, (ii) if the vertical component indicated upward motion, the measurement was removed, and lastly (iii) upper and lower limits were applied to the data distribution to remove any outliers due to signal noise. The upper and lower limits were determined by calculating the average settling velocity plus two times the standard deviation. This resulted in one limit (0.977), which was used as both the upper (positive) and lower (negative) limit.

A wind rose was created to assess microplastic source areas for the five days of field sampling using the wind direction and wind speed (Figure 3.1) this was plotted using the WRPLOT software (Lakes Software, 2022). The wind speed and direction were obtained from the WISKI database (CLIM-MTO-CR26; Government of Ontario, 2022). Statistical analysis testing was performed for ambient air to determine if there was a statistical difference between the days sampled using a t-test as data were normally distributed. All statistical analysis was carried out in PAST 4.10 (PAST, 2020).

3.4 Results and Discussion

3.4.1 Ambient Air Concentrations

Microplastic particles were observed in all atmospheric samples for the five days studied (November 1–5, 2021); the total count across the five days was 1116.2 microplastics (blank corrected; 6.7 mp). The analysis of the circle cut-outs of the filter paper suggested that the area was representative of the entire filter paper, as the variability between the triplicate sub-samples was quite low (11.3%; Table 3.1). The daily microplastic concentrations in the current study ranged from 0.10–0.18 mp/m³ (Day 5–Day 3); with an average of 0.13 mp/m³ (Table 3.1). There was no statistical difference (t-test p > 0.05) in microplastic count between triplicate sub-samples (5 cm diameter) between the five days sampled.

A number of studies have investigated microplastic concentrations in outdoor ambient air. Dris et al. (2017) in Paris, France, found a concentration range of 0.3–1.5 fibers/m³; Liu et al. (2019a) in Shanghai, China, found a range of 0–4.18 mp/m³; and Choi et al. (2022) in Seoul, South Korea, found a range of 0.45–5.16 mp/m³. Atmospheric microplastic pollution is likely related to population density; Shanghai and Seoul have the highest population (24.9 million and 9.9 million respectively; Major Agglomerations of the World, 2022) and the highest concentrations. While Paris has a lower population (2.2 million; Major Agglomerations of the World, 2022) and lower microplastic concentration. Port Perry has a much lower population (9,553) than the other studies, which explains the much lower air concentration.

Meteorological conditions such as wind speed and direction can affect the ambient air concentrations of microplastics as well as indicate the source region. Microplastics have been found in remote areas indicating that microplastics can travel through the atmosphere far from their source region (Allen et al., 2019; Bergmann et al., 2019); microplastics have been reported to be up to 95 km from potential source regions. The concentration of microplastics in the environment depends on the source of microplastics for that region. During the sampling period, the wind was mainly from the southwest, i.e., blowing across most of Port Perry (Figure 3.1) and from the Greater Toronto Area (GTA; see Appendix Figure A3.3). However, due to the low concentration of microplastics in the ambient air during the study period it is assumed that Port Perry was the immediate and principal source of pollution.

Table 3.1- Microplastic count, ambient air concentrations (mp/m³), and coefficient of variation (CV%) between triplicate sub-samples in high-volume air samples, Port Perry, Ontario (November 1–5 2021; see Appendix Table A3.3).

-	Total Particle	Ambient Air	Coefficient of
	Count	Concentration	Variation
Day		(mp/m^3)	(CV%)
Day 1	247.3	0.161	20.4
Day 2	173.8	0.118	0.0
Day 3	314.2	0.177	6.3
Day 4	153.7	0.104	12.5
Day 5	193.9	0.101	17.3
Average	216.6	0.132	11.3

The majority (97.6%) of microplastics in the ambient air samples were fibers, while the remaining 2.4% were fragments; no films were found (Table 3.2). Similarly, other studies found the majority of atmospheric microplastics to be fibers (Wright et al., 2020; Dris et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019a). A main source of microplastics (especially fibers) is from textiles; microfibers can enter the atmosphere through the detachment during the wear, washing and drying of clothes (Pirc et al., 2016; De Falco et al., 2018). Another reason fibers tend to be dominant in the atmosphere is they remain suspended longer than other microplastics, whereas fragments tend to deposit closer to their source (Loppi et al., 2021).

Table 3.2- The percentage and count* of fibers and fragments in ambient air concentrations in Port Perry, Ontario (see Appendix Table A3.4).

	Fibers (%)	Fragments (%)	Fibers (count)	Fragments (count)
Total	97.6	2.4	1089.4	26.8

* All counts have been blank corrected and scaled up to represent the entire filter paper.

The observed microfibers generally had a length of <1 mm with an average of 1.13 mm and a median of 0.86 mm (Figure 3.3). The microplastics found in a bulk deposition collector in Port Perry were slightly longer with an average of 1.60 mm and median of 1.04 mm. Liu et al. (2019a) found the size of microplastics in Shanghai to range between 0–9.9 mm, with an average of 0.6 mm. While Dris et al. (2017) found microplastics to be <1.65 mm. The difference in microplastic length between the studies may be due to the different sources of microplastics and different identification techniques. Both Dris et al. (2017) and Liu et al. (2019a) identified microplastics using a stereomicroscope and did not further identify samples under fluorescence microscopy. The dominant colours in Port Perry were black and blue (Figure 3.4), similarly Liu et al. (2019a) found the most common colours in the atmosphere to be black and blue. Black and blue are the dominant colour of most clothes, e.g., denim jeans are worn by an estimated 46–56% of Canadians every day (Athey et al., 2020). Further, the average Canadian washes their denim more than necessary, after only 2 wears, therefore wearing the denim down, which creates easily detachable fibers that end up in the atmosphere (Athey et al., 2020).



Figure 3.3- Histogram showing the length of microfibers found under brightfield microscopy in ambient air in Port Perry, Ontario, during November 1–5, 2021 (n=119).



Figure 3.4- Pie chart showing the colours of all microplastics found under brightfield microscopy in ambient air in Port Perry, Ontario, during November 1–5, 2021.

3.4.2 Settling Velocity Analysis

The microfibers used for the settling velocity analysis were mainly <1 mm (81%), with a range of 0.03–2.99 mm, average 0.72 mm, and median 0.61 mm (Table 3.3; Figure 3.5). The kurtosis for the microfiber length (4.74) was quite high; transformations of the data showed that it was lognormal. Therefore, the median is a better measure of the central tendency than the average and the mode is the best representation of frequency. The wide distribution in fiber lengths was due to their cylindrical shape; fibers >1 mm in length passed through the aperture of the sieve vertically due to their small diameter or thickness (~0.07 mm; see Appendix Table A3.5). The size range of the prepared polyester microfibers (Table 3.3) were generally comparable to microfibers observed in the environment. The microplastics in the ambient air concentrations in Port Perry were a bit longer, with a median of 0.86 mm. While Wright et al. (2020) found similar lengths in atmospheric deposition in London, England, with the most abundant fiber lengths between 0.40–0.50 mm and an average of 0.91 ± 0.64 mm. Roblin et al. (2020) also found similar microfiber lengths in deposition across four remote sites in Ireland, i.e., the median length was 0.88 mm. Similarly, in Lake Scugog the median length across two bulk deposition stations during May–November 2021 was 0.79 mm (see Chapter 2).

The median settling velocity was 0.11 m/s, the average was 0.18 m/s, and the range was 0.0005–1.09 m/s (Table 3.3). The distribution of the settling velocities was skewed (Figure 3.5); the data distribution was left aligned, similar to the distribution of fiber lengths (Figure 3.5).

Table 3.3- Summary statistics for the length (mm) of the prepared polyester microfibers (n=1470); the kurtosis is quite high indicating a non-normal distribution (see Figure 3.3). Summary statistics for the measured settling velocity (m/s) of polyester microfibers (n=55,501) determined through the laboratory-based experiments are also given.

	Length (mm)	Settling Velocity (m/s)
Median	0.612	0.11
Average	0.720	0.18
Mode	0.605	0.04
Range	0.03-2.99	0.0005 - 1.09
5th percentile	0.263	0.02
95th percentile	1.578	0.58
Mean Absolute Deviation	0.302	0.14
Kurtosis	4.736	2.05
Skewness	1.866	1.56



Figure 3.56- Histogram (left) showing the distribution of the length of the laboratory prepared polyester microfibers used to determine the settling velocity; measured across ten replicates (n=1470). Histogram (right) showing the distribution of the settling velocity (m/s) for polyester microfibers (n=55,501); the distribution is left skewed (lognormal).

Currently, there are no published laboratory-based atmospheric settling velocity measurements in the peer-reviewed literature. However, a few studies did carry out theoretical calculations for settling velocities of microplastics (Allen et al., 2019; Wright et al., 2020). Allen et al. (2019) estimated a settling velocity of 0.10 m/s based on non-fibrous <0.025 mm Saharan dust particles (with a density of approximately 2.65 g/cm³; Rocha-Lima et al., 2018). In contrast, Wright et al. (2020) estimated a settling velocity for fibrous microplastics of 0.06 m/s based on an assumed fiber length of 0.4 mm and density of 1.184 g/cm³.

The settling velocities determined by Wright et al. (2020) and Allen et al. (2019) are generally consistent with the mode and median settling velocities determined in the current study (Table 3.3); the slight differences may be related to their theoretical approach. However, the density and lengths of the microplastics were different between all studies; polyester was used in the current study, which has a density of 1.38 g/cm^3 (Wu et al., 2015), and the median fiber length was 0.61 mm (Table 3.3).

3.4.3 Dry Deposition

The average daily dry deposition across the five days was 1257 mp/m²/day, with the range being 963–1678 mp/m²/day (Table 3.4). Bulk deposition (wet and a portion of dry deposition) in Port Perry (approximately 2 km from the current study site) was recently determined for five consecutive months (June–October 2021); the average was 37 mp/m²/day (see Appendix Table A3.6). The measurements for bulk deposition in Port Perry were comparable to other studies (Welsh et al., 2022) and reasonable based on the surrounding population density. In contrast, the calculated dry deposition for microplastics in Port Perry seemed very high; more than 30 times higher than the bulk deposition. There was very little rain during the sampling period (average rainfall of 0.34 mm; see Appendix Table A3.1), therefore

dry deposition would have been the dominant removal process; however, it still seems unreasonably large. One of the reasons for the uncertainty in the dry deposition rate may be due to the limited period of observation for ambient air sampled. Further the laboratory-based settling velocity does not account for potential influences that occur in the natural environment.

The laboratory settling velocity determined for this study is a valid estimate based on ideal conditions. However, in an environmental context it may need to be modified for meteorological conditions. Lo et al. (1999) found that with increasing wind speed the deposition velocity of a particle also increases by a factor of 2–5, depending on the size; the larger the particle the higher the increase. Chen et al. (2012) also found a positive correlation between dry deposition velocity and wind speed; a high wind speed tends to increase the friction velocity, which results in accelerating the transport of the particle. A limitation within this study is that wind speed was not taken into account; the current study solely focused on a laboratory-based determination of the settling velocity of polyester microfibers.

Table 3.4- Dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, during November 1–5, 2021 based on the median laboratory estimated settling velocity (Table 3.3) and observed ambient air concentrations (Table 3.1).

	Dry Deposition (mp/m ² /day)
Day 1	1530
Day 2	1123
Day 3	1678
Day 4	991
Day 5	963
Average	1257

3.5 Conclusion

This study determined the dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, using a laboratory measured settling velocity of polyester microfibers and measured ambient air concentrations. The dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry was found to be 1257 mp/m²/day. The average ambient air concentration was 0.132 mp/m³ and the median settling velocity of polyester microfibers was 0.11 m/s. During the study period, the wind direction was south-west, i.e., blowing from downtown Port Perry, which was mostly likely the dominant source of microplastics. Results suggest that dry deposition is the dominant removal process for atmospheric microfibers compared with wet or bulk deposition; however, there were limitations within this study, and it is recommended that settling velocities under different meteorological conditions be further examined and used to estimate dry deposition.

3.6 References

- Abbasi, S. & Turner, A. 2021. Dry and wet deposition of microplastics in a semi-arid region (Shiraz, Iran). *Science of the Total Environment*. 786 (147358).
- Allen, S., Allen, D., Phoenix, V.R., Le Roux, G., Durantez Jimenez, P., Simmonneau, A., Binet,
 S. & Galop, D. 2019. Atmospheric transport and deposition of microplastics in a remote mountain catchment. *Nature Geoscience*. 12, 339-344.
- Anderson, J.C., Park, B.J. & Palace, V.P. 2016. Microplastics in aquatic environments: Implications for Canadian ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution*. 218, 269-280.
- Athey, S.N., Adams, J.K., Erdle, L.M., Jantunen, L.M., Helm, P.A., Finkelstein, S.A. & Diamond, M.L. 2020. The widespread environmental footprint of indigo denim microfibers from blue jeans. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 7, 840-847.
- Bagaev, A., Mizyuk, A., Khatmullina, L., Isachenko, I. & Chubarenko, I. 2017. Anthropogenic fibres in the Baltic Sea water column: Field data, laboratory and numerical testing of their motion. *Science of the Total Environment*. 599, 560-571.
- Bergmann, M., Mutzel, S., Primpke, S., Tekman, M.B., Trachsel, J. & Gerdts, G. 2019. White and wonderful? Microplastics prevail in snow from the Alps to the Arctic. *Science Advances.* 5
- Bianco, A. & Passananti, M. 2020. Atmospheric micro and nanoplastics: An enormous microscopic problem. *Sustainability*. 12 (18), 7327.
- Buchhave, P. & George, W.K. 1979. The measurement of the turbulence with the laser Doppler anemometer. *Annual Reviews of Fluid Mechanics*. 11, 443-503.

- Cai, L., Wang, J., Peng, J., Tan, Z., Zhan, Z., Tan, X. & Chen, Q. 2017. Characteristic of microplastics in the atmosphere fallout from Dongguan city, China: Preliminary research and first evidence. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 24, 24928-24935.
- Chen, L., Peng, S., Liu, J. & Hou, Q. 2012. Dry deposition velocity of total suspended particles and meteorological influence in four locations in Guangzhou, China. *Journal of Environmental Sciences.* 4, 632-639.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C. & Galloway, T. 2011. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 62, 2588-2597.
- De Falco, F., Gullo, M.P., Gentrile, G., Di Pace, E., Cocca, M., Gelabert, L., Brout-Agnésa, M., Rovira, A., Escudaro, R., Villalba, R., Mossotti, R., Montarsolo, A., Gavignano, S., Tonin, C. & Avella, M. 2018. Evaluation of microplastic release caused by textile washing processes of synthetic fabrics. *Environmental Pollution*. 236, 916-925.
- Drain, L.E. 1980. The laser Doppler techniques. New York: J. Wiley-Interscience. 119-153.
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Rocher, V., Saad, M., Renault, N. & Tassin, B. 2015. Microplastic contamination in an urban area: A case study in Greater Paris. *Environmental Chemistry*. 12, 592-599.
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Saad, M., Mirande, C. & Tassin, B. 2016. Synthetic fibers in atmospheric fallout: A source of microplastics in the environment? *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 104, 290-293.

- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Mirande, C., Mandin, C., Guerrouache, M., Langlois, V. & Tassin, B. 2017.
 A first overview of textile fibers, including microplastics, in indoor and outdoor environments. *Environmental Pollution*. 221, 453-458.
- Durst, F., Melling, A. & Whitelaw, J. 1981. Principles and practices of laser-doppler anemometry. *Academic Press*.
- Erni-Cassola, G., Gibson, M.L., Thompson, R.C. & Christie-Oleza, J.A. 2017. Lost, but found with Nile Red: A novel method for detecting and quantifying small microplastics (1 mm to 20 µm) in environmental samples. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 51, 13641-13648.
- Evangeliou, N., Grythe, H., Klimont, Z., Heyes, C., Eckhardt, S., Lopez-Aparicio, S. & Stohl, A.
 2020. Atmospheric transport is a major pathway of microplastics to remote regions. *Nature Communications*. 11 (3381).
- Felismino, M.E.L., Helm, P.A., & Rochman, C.M. 2021. Microplastics and other anthropogenic microparticles in water and sediments in Lake Simcoe. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*. 47, 180-189.
- Geyer, R., Jambeck, J.R. & Law, K.L. 2017. Production, use and fate of all plastics ever made. *Science Advances.* 3, 1-5.
- GHD Consultants. 2019. *Traffic Impact Proposed Residential Subdivision*. Retrieved from https://www.scugog.ca/en/do-business/resources/Documents/S-S_2018-03_Traffic-Impact-Letter_v2.pdf

Government of Canada. 2020. Science assessment of plastic pollution. *Environment and Climate Change Canada Health Canada*.

Government of Ontario. 2022. WISKI WebPro. Retrieved from

http://www.mnr.gov.on.ca/en/Business/Water/2ColumnSubPage/199184.html

- Hoffman, M.J., Hittinger, E. 2017. Inventory and transport of plastic debris in the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 115, 273-281.
- Kawartha Conservation. 2010. Lake Scugog Environmental Management Plan (LSEMP). Retrieved from <u>https://www.kawarthaconservation.com/en/resources/Lake-Management-</u> Plans/LSEMP_May2010_FINAL.pdf
- Kawartha Conservation. 2020. *Environmental Sciences*. Retrieved from https://www.kawarthaconservation.com/en/environmental-sciences/climate-change.aspx
- Klein, M. & Fischer, E. 2019. Microplastic abundance in atmospheric deposition within the Metropolitan area of Hamburg, Germany. *Science of the Total Environment*. 685, 96-103.
- Kliafas, Y. 1989. Velocity and mass flux distribution measurements of spherical glass beads in air flow in a 90° vertical-horizontal bend. *Advance in Fluid Dynamics*. 69-90.
- Labbe, A.B., Bagshaw, C.R., Uttal, L. 2020. Inexpensive adaptions of basic microscopes for the identification of microplastic contamination using polarization and Nile Red fluorescence detection. *Journal of Chemical Education*. 97, 4026-4032.
- Lakes Software [WRPLOT View]. 2022. Retrieved from https://www.weblakes.com/software/freeware/wrplot-view/

- Liu, K., Wang, X., Fang, T., Xu. P., Zhu, L. & Li, D. 2019a. Source and potential risk assessment of suspended atmospheric microplastics in Shanghai. *Science of the Total Environment*. 675, 462-471.
- Liu, K., Wu, T., Wang, X., Song, Z., Zong, C., Wei, N. & Li, D. 2019b. Consistent transport of terrestrial microplastics to the ocean through atmosphere. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 53 (18), 10612-10619.
- Loppi, S., Roblin, B., Paoli, L. & Aherne, J. 2021. Accumulation of airborne microplastics in lichens from a landfill dumping site (Italy). *Scientific Reports*. 11, 1-5.
- Lo, A.K., Zhang, L. & Sievering, H. 1999. The effect of humidity and state of water surfaces on deposition of aerosol particles onto a water surface. *Atmospheric Environment*. 33 (28), 4727-4737.
- Lusher, A., Tirelli, V., O'Connor, I. & Officer, R. 2015. Microplastics in Arctic polar waters: the first reported values of particles in surface and sub-surface samples. *Scientific Reports*. 5 (14947).
- Major Agglomerations of the World-Population Statistics and Maps. 2022. Retrieved from https://www.citypopulation.de/en/world/agglomerations/
- Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry. 2020. Ontario Flow Assessment Tool. Retrieved from <u>https://www.lioapplications.lrc.gov.on.ca/OFAT/index.html?viewer=OFAT.OFAT</u>
- Norén, F. 2007. Small microplastics in coastal Swedish. KIMO Sweden.

- Pirc, U., Vidmar, M., Mozer, A. & Krzan, A. 2016. Emissions of microplastic fibers from microfiber fleece during domestic washing. *Environmental Science Pollution and Research.* 23, 22206-22211.
- Prata, J.C., Castro, J.L., da Costa, J.P., Duarte, A.C., Rocha-Santos, T. & Cerqueira, M. 2020.
 The importance of contamination control in airborne fibers and microplastic sampling:
 Experiences from indoor and outdoor sampling in Aveiro, Portugal. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 159 (111522).
- Richards-Thomas, T. & McKenna-Neuman, C. 2020. Laboratory investigation of particle-scale factors affecting the settling velocity of volcaniclastic dust. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* 125.
- Ritchie, H. & Roser, M. 2018. Plastic Pollution. Our World in Data.
- Roblin, B., Ryan, M., Vreugdenhil, A. & Aherne, J. 2020. Ambient atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic microfibers and microplastics on the western periphery of Europe (Ireland). *Environmental Science and Technology*. 54, 11100-11108.
- Rocha-Lima, A., Martins, J.V., Remer, L.A., Todd, M., Marsham, J.H., Engelstaedter, S., Ryder, C.L., Cavazos-Guerra, C., Artaxo, P., Colarco, P. & Washington, R. 2018. A detailed characterization of the Saharan dust collected during the Fennec campaign in 2011; in situ ground-based and laboratory measurements. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*. 18, 1023-1043.
- Stanton, T., Johnson, M., Nathanial, P., Gomes, R.L., Needham, T. & Burson, A. 2019.
 Exploring the efficacy of nile red in microplastics quantification: A costaining approach. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 6. 606-611.

- Statistics Canada. 2017. Scugog, Ontario, Port Perry, Ontario Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada catalogue no. 98-316-X2016001. Released November 29, 2017. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dppd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed January 21, 2022)
- Welsh, B., Aherne, J., Paterson, A.M., Yao, H. & McConnell, C. 2022. Atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic particles and microplastics in south-central Ontario, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment.* 835 (155426).
- Windsor, F.M., Tilley, R.M., Tyler, C.R. & Ormerod, S.J. 2019. Microplastic ingestion by riverine macroinvertebrates. *Science of the Total Environment*. 646, 68-74.
- Wright, S.L., Ulke, J., Font, A., Chan, K.L.A. & Kelly, F.J. 2020. Atmospheric microplastic deposition in an urban environment and an evaluation of transport. *Environmental International.* 136 (105411).
- Wu, Y., Ye, H., Zhang, X., Li, C., Huang, M. & Feng, X. 2015. The new measurement method of blending ratio of PTT/PET fiber blends by centrifugal separation. *International Conference on Material, Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering*. 1387-1390
- Zhao, S., Zhu, L., Wang, T. & Li, D. 2014. Suspended microplastics in the surface water of the Yangtze Estuary System, China: First observations on occurrence, distribution. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 86, 562-568.
3.7 Appendix Appendix A- Ambient Air Sampling and Settling Velocity Experiments

Table A3.1- The temperature and precipitation in Port Perry during the sample period (November 1–5, 2021), the data was obtained from Kawartha Conservation weather gauges (Kawartha Conservation, 2020).

	Temperature	Precipitation
Date	(°C)	(mm)
Nov 1	5.56	0.17
Nov 2	2.96	0.00
Nov 3	1.41	0.12
Nov 4	1.25	0.96
Nov 5	1.93	0.47
Average	2.62	0.34

Table A3.2- The sampling period (start and end times, and exposure times) for ambient air concentrations and the volume (m³) of air sampled in Port Perry.

		Start		End	Exposure	Volume of
Day	Start Date	Time	End Date	Time	(hrs)	air (m^3)
Day 1	11/1/2021	12:30	11/2/2021	11:05	22.58	1534.77
Day 2	11/2/2021	11:05	11/3/2021	8:42	21.62	1469.08
Day 3	11/3/2021	8:42	11/4/2021	10:52	26.17	1778.30
Day 4	11/4/2021	10:52	11/5/2021	8:32	21.67	1472.48
Day 5	11/5/2021	8:32	11/6/2021	12:40	28.13	1911.95



Figure A3.1- A sample of the images of slides analyzed to determine the length of the laboratory manufactured polyester microfibers used for the settling velocity measurements.



Figure A3.2- Photograph of the fall column constructed to determine the settling velocity of polyester microfibers, showing the base and top cover of the fall column (see Figure 3.2).



Figure A3.3- Back trajectory plot representing the wind direction during the five days ambient air was sampled in Port Perry, November 1–5 2021. Note: Colours represent individual trajectories.

Table A3.3- Count of microplastics under brightfield microscopy, blue-light fluorescence, and the total particle count* for ambient air sampled in Port Perry, Ontario (November 1–5 2021).

	Brightfield	Blue-light	Total Particle
	Microscopy	Fluorescence	Count
Day	Count	Count	
Day 1	9.7	2.7	247.3
Day 2	6.7	2.3	173.8
Day 3	12.3	3.7	314.2
Day 4	6.0	2.0	153.7
Day 5	6.7	3.3	193.9
Average	8.3	2.8	216.6

*The total particle count (blank corrected) includes the entire filter paper count, which was scaled-up from the three circle cut-outs, while the brightfield microscopy and blue-light fluorescence count is the average of the three circle cut-outs.

Table A3.4- The percentage and count* of fibers and fragments in ambient air concentrations in Port Perry, Ontario, found under brightfield microscopy and blue-light fluorescence.

	Fibers (%)	Fragments (%)	Fibers (count)	Fragments (count)
Brightfield Microscopy	98.4	1.6	815.4	13.4
Blue-light Fluorescence	95.3	4.7	274.0	13.4

* All counts have been blank corrected and scaled up to represent the entire filter paper.

Table A3.5- The diameter (mm) of the polyester fibers (n = 1470) used to determine the settling velocity, measured manually through Image J open- source software.

	Diameter
Variable	(mm)
Average	0.076
Median	0.070
Mode	0.070

Table A3.6- The count, concentration, and daily flux over five months (June–October 2021) for

bulk deposition in Port Perry, Ontario.

	Microplastic	Volume	Concentration	Daily Flux
Month	Count	(L)	(mp/L)	(mp/m/day)
Jun	31	4.8	5.8	29.7
Jul	49	4.1	11.3	47.7
Aug	27	1.6	16.4	26.7
Sep	41	5.1	7.5	40.1
Oct	22	2.2	9.5	21.2
Overall Average	34	3.6	10.1	37.3

Appendix B- Pilot Testing for the LDA

Initial pilot testing was performed to determine the settings (gain, validation and sensitivity) for the LDA. The two main settings that need to be adjusted are gain and validation. Gain boosts the signal/noise ratio for the LDA to receive and validation averages the obtained measurements to avoid collecting "noise" data. A poor validation rate can record many particles, however the results from this may not be accurate. On the other hand, a high validation rate may be very accurate, but there are not many counts. A validation rate had to be determined that had a high count while still being accurate. There are two sensitivity rates, vertical and horizontal, when the sensitivity threshold is exceeded the particle is then measurable. This optimization was carried out by releasing multiple replicates into the fall column to determine which settings would work best for polyester. A total of 18 different combinations of settings were adjusted, at each different combination three replicates were performed. After performing these pilot tests, the following settings were determined for polyester: sensitivity: 1000_1200, gain: 14, validation: 4.

Calibration tests were performed to confirm the calibration of the LDA, using 0.22 mm glass beads (see Appendix Table B3.1). These tests were performed to determine if the air was still in the room. The tests were also done to confirm that the LDA was measuring settling velocities correctly. The measurements from the calibration tests were confirmed through published literature (Kliafas, 1989). Glass beads needed to be used for this as there is a known settling velocity for them. The tests consisted of five replicates with each replicate having a particle count of 2000. The replicates were dropped by hand down the fall column. The size of the glass beads was confirmed using a Horiba LA-950V2 particle size analyzer, three replicates were performed, and each replicate was tested three times (Table B3.1).

Table B3.1- The medians of nine replicates of the glass bead reference material for size confirmation. The size of the glass beads was measured using a Horiba LA-950V2 particle size analyzer.

Replicate	Median (mm)
Rep 1	0.2177
Rep 2	0.2176
Rep 3	0.2175
Rep 4	0.2197
Rep 5	0.2197
Rep 6	0.2197
Rep 7	0.2199
Rep 8	0.2198
Rep 9	0.2200
Average	0.2191

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 General Conclusion

It is well established that biogeochemical and nutrient budgets can be used to effectively integrate all inputs and outputs at the catchment scale, however this is still quite a novel concept for the study of the microplastics cycle (Hoellein & Rochman, 2021; Horton & Dixon, 2018). By studying the entire catchment, the terrestrial and atmospheric transport of microplastics is also integrated in this analysis and the overall fate of microplastics can be better understood. Freshwater ecosystems are considered conduits for microplastics as they act as transporters, receivers, and sinks for microplastics (Enamul Kabir et al., 2021; Horton & Dixon, 2018; Hoellein & Rochman, 2021; Xia et al., 2020). There has been growing recognition of the importance of the atmosphere as a pathway of microplastics into remote environments (Allen et al., 2019; Bergmann et al., 2019). In general studies have quantified microplastics in wet-only or bulk deposition (Szewc et al., 2021; Klein & Fischer, 2019); however, to gain a more holistic understanding of the deposition and transport of atmospheric microplastics, dry deposition needs to be studied. The overall objective of this thesis was to assess the abundance and distribution of microplastics within Lake Scugog catchment, Ontario. This was achieved through two secondary objectives to (1) determine the abundance of microplastics in Lake Scugog, and to develop a microplastic particle (input–output) budget for the lake catchment, and (2) determine the dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, based on ambient air concentrations of microplastics and a laboratory measured settling velocity for polyester fibers. In addition, a preliminary assessment of smaller particles (in the range of $20-100 \,\mu\text{m}$) was carried out, which is typically not included in visual analysis.

Chapter 2 focused on developing a microplastic particle budget for Lake Scugog catchment. This was determined by quantifying the inputs (precipitation and inflows) as well as the outputs (sedimentation and the lake outflow) of microplastics. Stream inflows, the lake outflow, and lake water samples were collected for six months (May-October), and precipitation was collected for five months (June–October), while sediment samples were collected once in October. Microplastics were extracted from each sample and identified under brightfield microscopy and blue-light fluorescence to identify particles <20 µm. Raman spectroscopy was used to determine plastic polymer composition. The total number of microplastics in Lake Scugog was 2.62 $\times 10^{11}$ mp with a residence time of one year. The total daily input of microplastics into the lake was 2491 $\times 10^6$ mp/day, while the output was 1761 $\times 10^6$ mp/day, resulting in 29% being retained in the lake. The largest daily microplastic flux into Lake Scugog was precipitation (19.51 mp/m²/day), which was nearly four times greater than the main output flux through the lake outflow (3.05 mp/m²/day). This suggests that atmospheric deposition is the main pathway of microplastics in background regions. Further, it may play a dominant role in other systems, but has had limited attention as a source pathway in aquatic microplastics research. Atmospheric deposition is composed of wet and dry inputs, but only bulk (wet plus a fraction of dry) deposition was measured in the particle budget, therefore, to gain a more holistic understanding of atmospheric microplastics the dry deposition should be examined.

Chapter 3 examined the dry deposition of microplastics in Port Perry, Ontario, Canada, based on field measured ambient air concentrations of microplastics and a laboratory settling velocity for polyester microfibers. Ambient air concentrations were collected for five consecutive days in November 2021 using an active air sampler, and settling velocity was measured using a Laser Doppler Anemometer and a drop column. Microplastics were analyzed

105

under brightfield microscopy and blue-light fluorescence. The dry deposition was estimated to be 1257 mp/m²/day based on an observed average ambient air concentration of 0.132 mp/m³ and a settling velocity of 0.11 m/s. The dry deposition was considered unreliable as there was a large difference between observed bulk deposition in the same area. One potential reason for the high dry deposition may be the settling velocity, as it was determined in a laboratory setting rather than the natural environment where meteorological conditions influence (potentially reduce) the settling velocity of particles.

4.2 Contributions to Research

Chapter 2 is one of the first studies in Canada (if not globally) to quantify the microplastic particle budget in a freshwater lake catchment. This study is the first to estimate the abundance of microplastics in stream inflows, precipitation, bio-monitors, the lake outflow, sediment, and lake water in a freshwater lake during the ice-free period. Many studies in Canada have focused on the Great Lakes (Yang et al., 2022; Ballent et al., 2016; Grbić et al., 2020; Eriksen et al., 2013; Corcoran et al., 2015; Dean et al., 2018), and the few that have focused on smaller lakes, generally only quantify microplastics in surface waters and sediment (e.g., Felismino et al., 2021; Anderson et al., 2017) and have excluded atmospheric and stream inputs.

Chapter 3 provides a more holistic understanding of atmospheric microplastics. Many studies have focused on bulk or wet only deposition (Szewc et al., 2021; Klein & Fischer, 2019), few if any studies have focused on the dry deposition of microplastics which is necessary to gain a more holistic understanding of atmospheric microplastics. This is also the first study to determine the atmospheric settling velocity of polyester microfibers, all other studies to date have based microplastic settling velocities on theoretical calculations (Wright et al., 2020; Allen et al., 2019).

4.3 Recommendations for Future Work

Comparison between studies is difficult as methodologies and units are not standardized. It is recommended that harmonized methodologies be used during both sampling and laboratory techniques when studying microplastics (ECCC, 2020). Further, units used to present microplastic concentrations should be standardized. Future studies should determine an appropriate sample volume for water as one-liter samples can be highly variable for low levels of pollution and the methodologies for sampling large volumes have the risk of losing microplastics. Preliminary tests regarding sample volumes were performed in the current study, 1 L and 500 L samples were taken, and both had limitations; it is suggested that a 10 L grab sample be performed for water samples (see Appendix Table B2.1).

Although this study did fill a knowledge gap regarding the microplastic particle budget in a lake, there were limitations. The lake catchment was only sampled during the ice-free period (May–October), in future studies, samples should be taken over the entire year. Furthermore, microplastic concentrations in soil in the terrestrial catchment should be examined to determine the amount of microplastics retained in the soil from atmospheric deposition and the amount of microplastics that enter the lake from the terrestrial catchment. Another limitation in this study were the effects of meteorological conditions on the settling velocity of microplastics, future studies should examine this. Ultimately, the identification of the microplastic budget in Lake Scugog proved that microplastics should be examined at a catchment scale to understand their fate in multiple environmental compartments. Through determining the microplastic budget better management strategies can be implemented to assist in controlling microplastic pollution. The atmosphere was a major pathway for microplastics into Lake Scugog catchment through both wet and dry deposition and should be a key component when studying microplastics in the environment.

107

4.4 References

Allen, S., Allen, D., Phoenix, V.R., Le Roux, G., Durántez Jiménez, P., Simonneau, A., Binet, S.
& Galop, D. 2019. Atmospheric transport and deposition of microplastics in a remote mountain catchment. *Nature Geoscience*. 12, 339-344.

- Anderson, P.J., Warrack, S., Langen, V., Challis, J.K., Hanson, M.L. & Rennie, M.D. 2017. Microplastic contamination in Lake Winnipeg, Canada. *Environmental Pollution*. 225, 223-231.
- Ballent, A., Corcoran, P.L., Madden, O., Helm, P.A. & Longstaffe, F.J. 2016. Sources and sinks of microplastics in Canadian Lake Ontario nearshore, tributary and beach sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 110 (1), 383-395.
- Bergmann, M., Mutzel, S., Primpke, S., Tekman, M.B., Trachsel, J. & Gerdts, G. 2019. White and wonderful? Microplastics prevail in snow from the Alps to the Arctic. *Science Advances.* 5
- Corcoran, P.L., Norris, T., Ceccanese, T., Walsak, M.J., Helm, P.A. & Marvin, C.H. 2015.
 Hidden plastics of Lake Ontario, Canada and their potential preservation in the sediment record. *Environmental Pollution*. 204, 17-25.
- Dean, B.Y., Corcoran, P.L. & Helm, P.A. 2018. Factors influencing microplastic abundances in nearshore, tributary and beach sediments along the Ontario shoreline of Lake Erie. *Journal of Great Lakes Research.* 44 (5), 1002-1009.

ECCC. 2020. Science assessment of plastic pollution. Government of Canada. Ottawa, ON.

Enamul Kabir, A.H.M., Sekine, M., Imai, T., Yamamoto, K., Kanno, A. & Higuchi, T. 2021. Assessing small-scale freshwater microplastics pollution, land-use, source-to-sink conduits, and pollution risks: Perspectives from Japanese rivers polluted with microplastics. *Science of the Total Environment*. 768 (144655).

- Eriksen, M., Mason, S., Wilson, S., Box, C., Zellers, A., Edwards, W., Farley, H. & Amato, S.
 2013. Microplastic pollution in the surface waters of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin.* 77, 177-182.
- Felismino, M.E.L., Helm, P.A., & Rochman, C.M. 2021. Microplastics and other anthropogenic microparticles in water and sediments in Lake Simcoe. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*. 47, 180-189.
- Grbić, J., Helm, P., Athey, S. & Rochman, C.M. 2020. Microplastics entering northwestern Lake Ontario are diverse and linked to urban sources. *Water Research*. 174 (115623).
- Hoellein, T.J. & Rochman, C.M. 2021. The "plastic cycle" : a watershed-scale model of plastic pools and fluxes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. 19 (3), 176-183.
- Horton, A.A. & Dixon, S.J. 2018. Microplastics: an introduction to environmental transport processes. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Review: Water*. 5 (2).
- Klein, M. & Fischer, E. 2019. Microplastic abundance in atmospheric deposition within the Metropolitan area of Hamburg, Germany. *Science of the Total Environment*. 685, 96-103.
- Szewc, K., Graca, B. & Dolega, A. 2021. Atmospheric deposition of microplastics in the coastal zone: Characteristics and relationship with meteorological factors. *Science of the Total Environment*. 761 (143272).

- Wright, S.L., Ulke, J., Font, A., Chan, K.L.A. & Kelly, F.J. 2020. Atmospheric microplastic deposition in an urban environment and an evaluation of transport. *Environmental International*. 136 (105411).
- Xia, W., Rao, Q., Deng, X., Chen, J. & Xie, P. 2020. Rainfall is a significant environmental factor of microplastic pollution in inland waters. *Science of the Total Environment*. 732 (139065).
- Yang, S., Zhou, M., Chen, X., Hu, L., Xu, Y., Fu, W. & Li, C. 2022. A comparative review of microplastics in lake systems from different countries and regions. *Chemosphere*. 286 (131806).